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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Chairman’s Statement
ETERE
BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a
revenue of HK$3,477 million, representing a decrease of 10.3% as
compared with last year; and a net profit of HK$701 million for the year,
representing a decline of 19.7% as compared with last year.

The Group recorded a gross profit margin of 39.99%, representing a
decrease of 6.9 percentage points as compared with last year; while
net profit margin was recorded at 20.2%, representing a drop of 2.3
percentage points as compared with last year.

During the year under review, due to Sino-US trade conflicts, downstream
players of the industry became more prudent in procurement, market
demand for chemical products thus experienced relatively higher volatility.
As a result, the overall market price of chemical products gradually
fell from their high levels in 2018. The Group proactively enhanced
occupational safety measures and made significant investments in
modern technologies and holistic staff training, with the aim of obtaining
‘Grade A Safe Production Standardization Enterprise Certification’, thus
ensuring sustainable development under safe production conditions. This
exercise inevitably exerted pressure on gross profit and affected the profit
margins of the Group.

PROSPECTS

The novel coronavirus outbreak has undoubtedly presented difficult
challenges to the business environment of domestic enterprises in
virtually all sectors. Nevertheless, with the signing of the first-phase trade
agreement between China and the United States, the tensions resulting
from the Sino-US trade situation and the external economic conditions
are likely to be alleviated. As the Group expects challenging business
prospects in 2020, it will strive to maintain a cost-effective operation
while exploring sources of business growth.

Sales of commercial hydrogen have begun in the fourth quarter of 2019,
contributing to the development of hydrogen-cell batteries. Construction
of the infrastructure of the new factory in Gaolan Port, Zhuhai, is nearly
completed. Production of the Group's internally-developed lithium
battery electrolyte additives is expected to commence by mid-2020.
Furthermore, the Group will also continue its dedication to the research
and commercialization of specialty polymers, lithium battery chemicals
and innovative surface treatment agents, as well as further vertical
expansion to widen the variety of downstream products.
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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHRE

In view of the increased strengthening of the industrial safety and
environmental protection requirements of the PRC government, the
Group will be committed to improving internal control standards, so as
to achieve sustainable development. Moreover, the Group will strive to
promote the concept of green manufacturing, and to practice a clean,
efficient and low-carbon development management, in order to be
socially responsible through energy conservation and emission reduction,
and deliver sustainable and promising returns to shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to
the Company's shareholders, customers and business partners for their
strong support throughout the year. In addition, | would also like to take
this opportunity to thank all colleagues and staff for their persistent efforts
and contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board
Wai Siu Kee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 5 March 2020
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWN D
RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was HK$3,477 million and HK$701
million respectively, representing a decrease of 10.3% and a decrease
of 19.7%, as compared to HK$3,877 million and HK$872 million
respectively for the last year.

The basic eamnings per share was HK84.9 cents for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: HK105.8 cents).

Revenue

During the year under review, the Group recorded a decrease of
approximately HK$400 million in revenue compared to the last year.

As compared to the last year, the average selling price per ton of caustic
soda was approximately RMB850, decreased by 239%; the average selling
price per ton of methylene chloride and chloroform was approximately
RMB3,200 and RMB2,800, decreased by 11% and 10% respectively;
the average selling price per ton of polytetrafluoroethylene was
approximately RMB49,000, decreased by 239%.

The actual production volume of our primary products for the year
(including self-consumption) was approximately 350,000 tons for CMS
products, 540,000 tons for 100% dry basis caustic soda, 8,000 tons for
polytetrafluoroethylene and 230,000 tons for hydrogen peroxide.

Despite the overall increase in production volume of our primary
products, the selling prices of our primary products had fallen from the
peak in early 2018 and comparable decline in costs of certain major
raw materials had not been observed. During the year under review,
gross profit margin of the Group decreased by 6.9 percentage points,
from 46.8% of last year to 39.9% of current year, and net profit margin
decreased by 2.3 percentage points, from 22.5% of the last year to
20.2% of the current year. The Group will strive to improve profit
contributions by maintaining its stable and full-load production and
managing controllable productions costs through ongoing technical and
process optimization.

Selling and distribution costs

During the year under review, selling and distribution costs amounted
to approximately HK$215 million, decreased by approximately HK$16
million as compared to HK$231 million of the last year. The decrease
in expenses for the year was mainly a combined effect of the additional
needs for deliveries driven by the hiked sales volume and the decrease
in average transportation costs. The selling and distribution costs
represented approximately 6.2% of total revenue for the year and was
comparable to that of 6.0% of the last year.

EERR

HZE2019F12A31HILEFE - ZEEZWA
LSRR DR A34.7718B T R7.01E
BT MEF3877EB TS 72BE T - &
A T EX10.3% % T #K19.7% ©

HE2019F12A31HILFE - BREREF
A84.97801L(2018 : 105.87#11l) o

WA

REEFA - EEWAEREF TEL4.00E
BTT ©

HAFHER SEERERTSHEANTIHEE
E47850 L AR ¥ » k2300 1 — & F I H
— S EHER I EEE D BI493,2007T A
R# 2,800t AR - NEE110082100% + &
P58 2 % T ME Y 39 8555 {8 4949,000T A R
H& o TRER2300 ©

TEEGNERLAEE(REER) A Bk
FAEMLIZ5ENE - T AR AIS4E8NE - B
L% #98,000M8 K2 AL | A 23 EME o

HATEMMEEREFTHEMREA - BHA
REIERNEBE018FE PN S/ HM
E o ATEZEMBEBEK AR REE
T REEFAN  AEBEEFNERETH
46.8% N6 OE B DRI ESFH39.9% ; 4
MBI EFH2250 K 23EEDEES
FH202% - NEBEFEERSETE RITM
BAE - WIHEEREM T ZES Tz
HEEERKAN - DARBIR AR EERS

HERDERA

REBFRN - HE &Y HEEAL AE2.1588
JC - EBEAFL231EBITTLE - 491,600
EBT FREARLETERBEHSESHM
URFHEHEERTENGATE - HER
2§ K A AR F IR A B G 4 B 6.2%
R EFHI6.0%EHE °



Administrative expenses

During the year under review, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately HK$213 million, decreased by approximately HK$13
million as compared to HK$226 million of the last year. The decrease in
expenses for the year mainly attributable to the business benefiting from
the reduced VAT in China and the decrease in depreciation charges. The
administrative expenses represented approximately 6.1% of total revenue
for the year, as compared to 5.8% for the last year.

Research and development cost

During the year under review, research and development costs
amounted to approximately HK$139 million and representing 4% of total
revenue for the year. During the year, continuous spending are made to
research and development of new products and optimization of technical
processes, recruitment of senior scientists and chemical professionals,
procurement of equipment and testing materials, so as to maintain the
sustainable development of the Group.

Finance costs

During the year under review, the interest expenses incurred was
approximately HK$78 million, decreased by approximately HK$16 million
as compared to HK$94 million of the last year. The decrease in expenses
was mainly due to the decrease in outstanding loan balances and overall
interest rates.

Net exchange loss
During the year under review, the net exchange loss was approximately

HK$10 million. The net exchange loss of the Group is mainly driven by
the fluctuation of Renminbi in 2019.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWNE D

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 was 98 days, increased by 10 days as compared to 88 days of the
last year.

Due to stringent credit control of the Group, the debtors’ turnover days
of the Group was controlled at 25 days for the year ended 31 December
2019 as compared to 28 days for the last year, which is in line with the
normal credit period of 7 days to 60 days granted to customers of the
Group.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days was 38 days for the year ended
31 December 2019 as compared to 27 days for the last year, which is
in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days to 45 days granted by the
suppliers to the Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ equity of the Group as at 31 December 2019
was HK$3,851 million (31.12.2018: HK$3,479 million). As at 31
December 2019, the Group had current assets of HK$1,538 million
(31.12.2018: HK$1,736 million) and current liabilities of HK$1,244
million (31.12.2018: HK$1,541 million). The current ratio was 1.24 as at
31 December 2019 as compared to 1.13 at 31 December 2018.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong and the PRC. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had outstanding
bank borrowings of HK$1,498 million (31.12.2018: HK$1,874 million).
These bank loans were secured by corporate guarantees provided by
the Company and its certain subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group maintained bank balances and cash of HK$246 million
(31.12.2018: HK$593 million). The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) as
at 31 December 2019 was 32.52% (31.12.2018: 36.83%).

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its capital
commitments, working capital requirements and future investments for
expansion.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had capital expenditure contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use rights in
amount of approximately HK$261 million.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2019, the Group had a workforce of around 2,100
people. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, and
provides them with proper training and competitive compensation and
incentives. The staffs are remunerated based on their work performance,
professional experience and prevailing market situation. Remuneration
packages comprise salary and bonuses based on individual merits.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Apart from those stated in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis sections, the Company is exposed to the
following key risks and uncertainties which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

1. Risks Relating to Our Industry

Some of our raw materials and products fall within the category
of hazardous chemicals. Any leakage of such chemicals, due to
equipment malfunction or wrongful operations, may result in
personal injury. The Company regards safety as the top priority. To
minimize risks, regular maintenance of our production equipment
is conducted. Important equipment is inspected by “Special
Equipment Safety Supervision Inspection Institute”, to ensure
proper management of our equipment and devices. In addition,
the Company strictly executes safety management standardization.
The Company regularly conducts safety classes and shares safety
management experience to our production teams. Emergency drills
are organized twice a year to ensure that our staff members have
thorough knowledge in safe production and avoid the occurrence of
wrongful operations.

2. Credit Risks Relating to Customers

Exposure to bad debts attributable to customers usually intensifies
in a time of weak economic performance. To minimize credit
risks, the management of the Group has appointed dedicated staff
members to handle procedures for determining credit limits, credit
approval and other monitoring procedures, to ensure follow-up with
all receivables in a timely manner. In addition, the Group reviews
the collectability of receivables at the end of a reporting period, to
ensure that sufficient impairment losses are provided for in respect
of uncollectible amount.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Management Discussion and Analysis
SR ERE DR

Liquidity Risks

In managing liquidity risks, the Group monitors and maintains
cash and cash equivalents at a level which is considered by the
management as sufficient, to satisfy the needs arising from the
Group's operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations of cash
flow. The management closely monitors the use of borrowings to
ensure that relevant covenants relating to loans are complied with.

Currency Risks

Debts denominated in foreign currencies expose the Group to
foreign exchange risks. The Group closely manages and monitors
foreign exchange risks to ensure that appropriate measures are
taken in a timely manner. The Group will consider entering into
forward contracts in respect of foreign currencies to mitigate relevant
risks as and when appropriate. As of 31 December 2019, the
Group did not have any outstanding forward contracts in respect of
foreign currencies.

Interest Rate Risks
The Group's interest rate risks are primarily related to its bank
balances and bank borrowings carried at floating interest rates. The

management will closely monitor interest rate risks and consider
hedging material interest rate fluctuations when necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERWME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board of the Company believes that sound and
reasonable corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Group and for safeguarding and maximising shareholders' interests.
During the year, the Company has complied with The Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Board is committed to complying with the code
provisions as stated in the Code to the extent that the directors of the
Company (“Directors”) consider it is applicable and practical to the
Company.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group, headed
by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver sustainable value to
Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting agenda,
and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely receive adequate
and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. The Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-day
operations of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions in 2005. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2019. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and role
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

The Board comprises four executive Directors (one of whom is the
Chairman and one of whom is the Chief Executive Officer) and
three independent non-executive Directors. The three independent
non-executive Directors represent more than one-third of the Board.
In addition, three of the independent non-executive Directors possess
appropriate legal, professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and the
internal controls of the Group's business operations.

The independent non-executive Directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent
non-executive Director is independent in character and judgment and
that they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by
the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation or confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the
Company's corporate communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all Directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all regular board
meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year, 5 full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each Director is set out below:
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ITERHHERES  HERAFERLEL
BREZQQAZHE  FEBIRINE
BEZNARAEXTEES WRE EF
AEREZEANFBIRER - BHEBE
> —ExEZRERRAEXMteERS
AzABRRAANEXTRES - BERNSSR
KENERABERBEANXRZERTEHN 7
THER

SERREEEAR Y SRRBEIAHSH
FECNERE  FAEEHERENE
FE XA RAAMAN LR R A
B EEEEAROREEEA I AR
18 -

WER EBHSRRZBEER  SEELR
EREFIWT :

Number of board
meetings attended

Name of Director EENE HESBERE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee Elmat 5
Mr. Lee Man Yan EXBEAE 5
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi BRET 2% 5
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEELE 4
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRUGR A 4
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP FECR I EBBS A F it 1 4
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TR 4

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and professional
development to Directors at the Company's expenses whenever
necessary.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments relating to the Group's business and the legislative
and regulatory environments to the Directors at Board meetings or
through emails.
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The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.6.5
of the Code on directors’ training. All Directors have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and provided a record of training they received for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to the Company. The type of training
received is summarized below:

EEAGETTREBESREI 2T
%’A 6.51%  BZE2019F 1283 1BIEFE &

REFOA2EBRNIIHAWENBNIREE
Zﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬂz I B RAARREREREHR
BRIEIERMT

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
REEERE SHEIHIE
Name of Director EEpHR EHER BRWNEEH
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Wai Siu Kee ‘lmurt v v
Mr. Lee Man Yan EXREE v v
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi BRI v 4
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEERE v 4
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRORESE v v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP FER I EBBS A F Ao v v
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wai TRRME T v 4
All Independent non-executive Directors entered into service contracts ~ PTBBIEHITE FHEA QR R RBEE
with the Company, for a term of approximately one year, commencing %) * % Z EHL—F » & /EEE BEFZKRR
upon conclusion of the AGM of the year of signing and ending at the EFASERMABLEE T —RKBRRBEFRE
next annual general meeting of the Company but, in any event, no later ~ BHIE - HEERINA G T EERETRFZ6
than 30 June to the following year of signing. A308 -
AUDIT COMMITTEE FREAE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 and its current members
include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
accounting, business and legal on the Audit Committee. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference
which describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee were
adopted in March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code,
and revised in January 2019 to reflect the relevant amendments of
the Corporate Governance Code. A copy of which is posted on the
Company's website.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectiveness of
the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company's auditors in matters coming
within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year, 3 Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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EVZ B EMAS AR AEEZ F5E
BRETERREMER - REPEERL
REREENMBRBREZARELTEE - &
REEGUREFSRAFAREMZEZE
Z/R CHBRSEANSERIRBEZ
VAR ES L

ENLESDHEHERT AEBIFEMNZ
SEHRBRIEG - W E AP EE T K B IS TE
HERBHETHW - AP REEHEZ2019
FI12A3BUEFE 2 HB®RE -

TR HAFIREZZEEEH - ERIKE
MHFEBERFET

Number of attendance

Name of Director EEpE HEEBRE
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei KA E 3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FROR %A 3
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP FER S EBBS A F At 3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and its current
members include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group's overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were adopted in March 2012
to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is posted on
the Company's website.

In determining the emolument payable to Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has met during the year to determine
the policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess performance of
executive Directors and certain senior management and all members
have attended in the meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in March 2012 and its
current members include:

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

The majority members are independent non-executive Directors. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were adopted
in March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, and revised
in August 2013 and January 2019 to reflect the relevant amendments
of the Corporate Governance Code. A copy of which is posted on the
Company's website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives

The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
shall inter-alia include the following:

. to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company;

. to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company's business; and

. to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at the
Board level.
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Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is considered
for being appointed/re-elected as Director and apply due diligence in
compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules including any amendments thereto from time to
time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall consider recommendations
for candidates to the Board from shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations and
undertaking as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Listing Rules. In case of independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee shall ensure that the independent non-executive
Directors meet the criteria of independence as laid down in the Listing
Rules.

While recommending any potential new Board member(s)/
re-appointment of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider the following:

. candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the Company which are
relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy, other
commitments and the like;

. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;
. requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in

accordance with the Main Board Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
diversity and diversity of perspectives;

. willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

. such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company's
business and corporate strategy and the Board's succession plan
and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or amended by
the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning;

. any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit to

consider in the best interests of the Company and shareholders of
the Company.
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Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its
evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or persons
making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an
outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the
knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee, the Board or
management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other professional
third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws and
regulations, Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei, shall
retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY
The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity to ensure adequate
diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January 2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance. The Company will continue to
monitor and develop new objectives for implementing and achieving
improved diversity on the Board as and when it considers appropriate
with regard to the specific needs of the Company and the market from
time to time.

Policy Statement

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.
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Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
which will include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and the like. The
ultimate decision will be based on overall contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order to
maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills, experience
and background on the Board, the Nomination Committee developed
measurable objectives to implement this policy and monitored progress
towards achieving these objectives during the year ended 31 December
2019.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational background
and professional experience of each director, against the Company's
business model and specific needs.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fee payable to the
Company's external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across business
operations effectively.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board of Directors determines
the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's
strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the
design, implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Taskforce
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's
objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to
a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and the
Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and
implementation of internal controls are identified and recommendations
are proposed for improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies
are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to
ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors at least once a year.
The Board had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of management's
review on risk management and internal control systems; result of
internal audit work; the extent and frequency of communication with the
Board in relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant
failures or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status
of compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures Ordinance
("SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019, the directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are set out in Company's
Articles or Association.

Shareholders can: (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting (ii)
forward enquiries to the board of directors (iii) forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings and (iv) nominate Directors for election. Details
of relevant procedures are available on the Company's website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about the
Group's performance to shareholders through the publication of interim
results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to dispatching
circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders, additional
information is also available to shareholders on the website of the
Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful platform for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company's businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, poll voting procedure is included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one
of the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to
shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights to
dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim dividend
and recommends the final dividend which requires the approval of
shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the
form of shares. Any distribution of shares also requires the approval of
shareholders.
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Retained surplus can be used to achieve growth in corporate value. The
Board has been making effective use of retained surplus to strengthen
the operating base and the development of businesses. According to the
dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1 January 2019, the Board
takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

. financial results;
. cash flow situation;
. availability of distributable profits

. business conditions and strategies;

. future operations and eamnings;

. development plans;

. cash requirements;

. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of shareholders as a whole;

. any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends; and
. any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

. there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is or
would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities or
discharge its obligations as and when they become due;

. pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent or
bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the Company
would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

. there is any other case set forth by any law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We are pleased to announce the 2019 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (“ESG Report”) of Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited (“Lee & Man Chemical”, “Group”, "the Group” or "We"), which
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Appendix
27 "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” to the
Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange, showcasing
the performance, results and the future course of the sustainable
development of the Group.

The Group has always been committing to promoting sustainable growth
through communication with stakeholders and materiality assessment
conducted to identify ESG topics that are important to the Group. The
Board of Directors (“the Board") is fully aware of the importance of
control and management of ESG-related risks. The strategy and policy
direction of the Group in the ESG area is reviewed continuously, and
the Management will work actively to implement the relevant policies
to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management, compliance, and
corresponding internal control system in the aspects of ESG.

In 2019, the Group formulated respectively clear and quantifiable
sustainable development goals for both environmental protection and
occupational safety, which help us effectively review the current policy
and facilitate the sustainable development of the Group. We have
established clear pollutant discharge standards, which include strict
compliance with laws and regulations and normative documents, such
as the “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China" and “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China”. During the year, the Group has not found
any violation of laws or regulations related to environmental protection.

We have always attached great importance to the construction of
green manufacturing systems and have committed to continuously
increasing investment in this regard, including the formulation of plans
for the transformation of environmental protection technology and
firm implementation of waste discharge measures. China Environment
News, a direct subordinate of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China, named Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical
Limited (“Jiangsu L&M Chemical”) the “2019 Environmental and Social
Responsibility Enterprise” to recognise the Group's contribution to
environmental protection. Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited (“Jiangxi
L&M Chemical”) was included in the “List of Second Batch of Green
Manufacturers of Jiangxi Province” after undergoing the evaluation of a
third-party agency, the assessment and affirmation of the provincial-level
industrial and information competent authorities, and the accreditation
from experts. Jiangxi L&M Chemical was identified as a provincial “green
factory” and is now a regional demonstration enterprise of the green
transition process.
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“Safety first” has always been a principle advocated by the Group. We
have adopted standardized work procedures for safe production, aiming
to prevent any major accidents. During the year, there has been no
violation of law or any fatal accidents in the aspect of safe production
under the Group. On the other hand, the Group has always promoted
innovation and progression. With a standardized management system in
place, we always strictly control and continuously improve the quality of
our products.

We are grateful to our employees, partners, and various stakeholders
for their participation, cooperation and support in achieving sustainable
development. The ESG during 2019 has been effective and fruitful, a
result of tremendous support and contribution from each and every one.
We look forward to moving ahead together with everyone again in the
coming year.

ESG MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Due to the higher risk of environmental pollution and work safety
implication in the chemical industry, occupational safety and
environmental protection have always been the ESG topic to which
the Group pays the greatest attention. Therefore, an environmental
protection department with qualified professionals familiar with relevant
environmental protection laws has been set up by the Group to manage
compliance and monitoring affairs.

To address various challenges in sustainable development, the Board
spearheaded and led the formulation of the sustainable development
governance guidelines and policies for the Group. The development plan
of the Group is under the Board's regular supervision; they are issued to
relevant departments for implementation by the safety and environment
department and relevant business departments. The Jiangsu and Jiangxi
factories will set up annual environmental protection targets and emission
assessment indicators based on the sustainable development governance
guidelines established by the Board and their actual production situation.
These policies are sent by the directors to every department with reviews
conducted regularly to follow up on the progress of goal attainment.

The risk management team set up by the Group will monitor the
risks, including ESG-related risks, which affect the Group on a yearly
basis. Based on the result of the risk assessment, the Group will plan
internal audit work for the risk issues and evaluate the performance and
deficiencies of the relevant internal control processes. Risk management
reports and internal audit reports are submitted to the audit committee
and the Board.
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Further to the top-down governance work, the Group also promotes
the bottom-up cooperation concept of “cooperative governance” in a
proactive manner. The Senior Management of the general management
office, the safety and environment department, and the internal audit
department will conduct featured work dispatch meetings every week.
Each department reports and discusses the production, follow up on
the production status, and the risk trends each week. The result of the
meetings is emailed to the representatives of the Board to keep them
updated of the relevant information. Base on the discussion, each
department needs to formulate relevant policies and implementation
measures and review the effectiveness of rectification and maintenance
work regularly, to ensure the effective implementation of the
improvement measures.

Furthermore, the safety and environment department and the
representative of the Board hold quarterly meetings, where the safety
and environment department reports the environmental protection and
occupational safety issues and challenges faced by the Group, reviews
the implementation of measures, and intensifies the cooperation among
various departments in driving the sustainable development of the Group.
The meeting keeps the Board abreast of the latest performance and
progress on goal attainment the aspect of ESG, and in turn, the Board
sets the future direction of ESG development and makes continuous
improvement to the performance in the pursuit of sustainability.

REPORTING SCOPE

This report has covered the environmental and social performance of
the Group during the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2019 (hereinafter referred to as the "Reporting Period"). This report has
covered the main businesses of the Group related to the production of
chemicals in China, including the Jiangsu L&M Chemical and Jiangxi L&M
Chemical production bases. Because the new plant in Zhuhai has not
commenced production, the relevant key performance indicator and data
will not be disclosed in this report.

In defining the reporting scope, the Group has taken into consideration
factors such as facilities’ risks on ESG issues, the Group's investment of
resources to control ESG risks of facilities and the materiality of facilities
on the Group's businesses, among others. The reporting scope is defined
by the Management and has been submitted to the Board for review.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report was prepared following the four principles suggested in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, namely,
“Quantitative”, “Consistency”, "Materiality” and “Balance”.

“Quantitative”: the Group refers to industry practices, guidelines
of the Stock Exchange or relevant government authority as well as
laws and regulations, formulates internal guidelines and procedures,
collects performance data related to environment from various business
departments, keeps record of relevant monitor instrument or supporting
documents, and submit them to the Board for review after verification
of the Management. Please refer to the relevant sections for the criteria,
methodologies and assumptions for the calculation of performance data.

“Consistency”: the disclosure and statistics methodologies are
consistent with those adopted last year in that data are summarised
and converted in the same manner. Relevant historical data have been
disclosed in the report, allowing stakeholders to better understand and
benchmark the sustainability development of the Group.

“Materiality”: when defining material ESG topics related to the Group's
business and stakeholders, we communicate internally and externally
to understand their expectations and recommendations, including
stakeholders who are impacted or have an impact on our operations,
such as the Management, trade association representatives, employees,
customers, suppliers, local government bodies and local connected
organisations.

“Balance”: The Group discloses its major ESG related performance
objectively to reflect the true picture of its achievements and challenges,
thus enhance operational transparency and build stakeholder trust.

To identify and update material ESG risks and opportunities faced by
Lee & Man Chemical, we carry out a materiality assessment of ESG
topics every year. Based on the day-to-day operations of the Group,
social trends, and industrial landscape, we identify environment and
society-related ESG topics through discussions with stakeholders. To
understand the stakeholders’ level of concern about each issue, the
safety and environment department and the general management office
have coordinated to distribute ESG issue assessment forms to main
stakeholders, allowing them to rate the relevant issues. Afterwards, based
on the assessment forms, we summarised the scoring results, according
to which, we create a materiality matrix to set the priority for the issues.
In reference to the material issues of peer enterprises, we determine the
ESG issues of top concern for the Group and stakeholders and submit
them to the Board of Directors for review.
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In the matrix chart, X-Axis and Y-Axis represent the materiality of the
issues to the Group and stakeholders respectively. Issues with the highest
materiality are shown on the top-right of the matrix chart. Conversely,
issues with lower materiality are shown on the bottom-left of the chart.
In this report, the key issues will be disclosed in detail, following the
“Materiality” reporting principle of the Guide of the Hong Kong Stock
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change Materiality Matrix
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Importance to business operations
HEBEBHERMN
Area No. ESG Topics Area No. ESG Topics
®E w5 ESGEE ®E w5 ESG#RE
General 1 Compliance with laws and regulations 15 Remuneration and benefits
- afl £l g A
2 Pollutants emissions 16 Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination
FERBER TERe RRER
3 Sewage discharge 17 Occupational health and safety
VKB BEmays
4 Greenhouse gas emissions 18 Emergency contingency plan
AR ZRENEE
5 Operational waste 19 Employee training and development
HEREEY B THEMER
6 Office waste 20 Child and forced labor
WAREEY ETNRESET
7 Resource recovery 21 Procurement and supplier management
ERBIR REERMERER
Environmental | 8 Energy usage 22 Green supply chain
RiR R Social gefEg
9 Raw material usage Pan- 23 Product quality
RI#HE EmEE
10 Water usage 24 Reasonable sales and promotion
FKER SENEHENER
11 Packaging materials 25 | After-sales services and handling of complaints
BEYH SRR RIEFH IR
12 |Environmental and safety production management 26 Privacy protection
BERTREHEER hERE
13 Noise pollution 27 Research and innovation
REHR R K BT
14 Biodiversity 28 Anti-competitive practice
LyEgrid [R#F
29 Anti-corruption
k&R
30 Social investment and donation
HEREE R
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Areas under “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of HKEX Key Environmental, Social and
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AEBMEENRR - HER

BRATRE - HBRERREIECI JEE  Governance Areas of the Group SILEE
A. Environment
RIE
Al.  Emissions + Treatment of emissions . HEERNER
219,87 +  Gas emission . REBHEK
+ Greenhouse gases emission « RERBH
+ Hazardous waste discharge - BEREEMHI
+  General waste . —IREEEY
+ Emission reduction measures and results « B BER e & TS AR
achieved
+ Hazardous waste treatment measures BRI AEREZEYEIE NS
and results achieved RS
A2.  Use of Resources «  Policies on the use of resources o BRERAECE
BIR{E A +  Energy consumption . BEREE
+  Use of water o KR{ER
+  Packaging materials - BEIH
« Energy use efficiency initiatives and - BERGEARETEILAATG
results achieved R

+ Water use efficiency enhancement and
results achieved

A3.  Environment and Natural Resources « Noise protection
RIERARAREIR
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Areas under “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting

Guide” of HKEX Key Environmental, Social and AEEEENRE -8R
BRATRE - HEREAMEIES| 1B Governance Areas of the Group BRI
B. Social
e
B1.  Employment Employment relations - EREBERE
=
B2.  Health and Safety Health and safety - RBRREZE
fEREZ R
B3.  Development and Training Development and training o BRKE
R REI
B4.  Labour Standards Labour standards . B TR
BT AR
B5.  Supply Chain Management Supply chain management - HEEEE
HEEHEER
B6.  Product Responsibility Product quality control and responsibility « ERESEEMET
EmEE
B7.  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption standards - REFER
REF
B8.  Community Investment Care for community - BEHRE

HEBIE
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The Group's production, factory operation and sales are located in the
PRC and therefore governed by the following laws and regulations:
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Laws and Regulations

EEER

Aspect Al:  [EHEAI :
Emissions  BEWY
AspectB1:  [ZMEB]1 :
Employment {E{&
Aspect B2:  [EMHEB2 :
Healthand  f@FREZ2
Safety

AspectB4:  [ZTHEB4 :
Labour 45 TAER]
Standards

AspectB6:  JETHB6 :
Product EmEE
Responsibility

Aspect B7:  [EMB7 :

Anti-corruption X &35

Environmental Protection Law of the People's
Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution
Law of the People’s Republic of China on

the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on

the Prevention and Control of Environment
Pollution caused by Solid Wastes

Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal
Power Plants

The 13th Five-Year Plan” for Greenhouse Gas
Emission Control

Regulation on the Administration of Ozone
Depleting Substances

Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises
Noise at Boundary

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases

Regulation on Work Safety Permits of the
People’s Republic of China

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China

Standardization Law of the People’s Republic of «

China

Company Law of the People's Republic of
China

Food Safety Law of the People's Republic of
China

Regulations of the People’s Republic of China
on the Administration of Production License for
Industrial Products

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Notice of the Supreme People’s Court and the
Supreme People’s Procuratorate on Issuing the
Opinions on Issues concering the Application
of Law in the Handling of Criminal Cases of
Commercial Briberies
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The Group's operations are significantly covered by most of the above
laws and regulations. There is no incident of non-compliance being
reported in 2019, and the Group affirms the compliance with such laws
and regulations.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to environmental protection and has
adopted various measures and monitoring methods to fulfil its
environmental protection obligations. A safety and environment
department has setup, with dedicated management personnel
for handling safety and environmental protection issues. They
continually follow up with relevant environmental laws and
regulations and keep themselves abreast of relevant updates,
ensuring that various departments of the Company also perform
according to the requirements of the government on environmental
protection and eliminating any behaviors which are in violation of
environmental laws and regulations.

Aspect A1 Treatment of Emissions

Jiangsu L&MW Chemical and Jiangxi L&M Chemical, strictly abide by
the "Montreal Protocol" and "Vienna Convention for the Protection
of the Ozone Layer". Chloromethane production is equipped with
devices for conversion of carbon tetrachloride into chloroform,
transforming all greenhouse gases into products of the Company
and effectively achieving zero emission of carbon tetrachloride.

Jiangsu L&M Chemical performed harmless incinerator of raffinate
and tail gas for carbon tetrachloride, and the final emissions are in
compliance with GB31571-2015 and DB32/3151-2016 standards.
According to the commissioned test report (report number
KDHJ197641), the average values of major emissions during
normal operation were as follows: nitrogen oxide: 355mg/m3,
hydrogen chloride: 0.79mg/m3, smoke and dust: 4.4mg/ms3, dioxin:
0.06TAQ-ng/m3, carbon monoxide: ND, non-methane hydrocarbon:
1.8mg/m3. They all meet emission standards. Online data of
smoke and gas emissions from thermal power station of Jiangsu
L&M Chemical is 24-hour transmitted in real time to the website of
Ecology and Environment Bureau of Changshu, Suzhou.

Smoke and gas emissions from thermal power stations of Jiangxi
L&M Chemical are in compliance with GB13223-2011 Standard.
In 2019, the average emission values of the power stations during
normal operation were as follows: sulphur dioxide: 14.12mg/m3,
nitrogen oxide 39mg/m3, smoke and dust: 5.65mg/m3. They all
meet emission standards. Online data of smoke and gas emissions
from thermal power station of Jiangxi L&M Chemical is transmitted
to the environmental protection monitoring platforms at all levels in
real time 24-hour.
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The two factories in the PRC have their environmental protection
targets on a yearly basis. Through technological innovation and
enhancement of control, we ensure that the Group's environmental
protection efforts meet or outperform government requirements.
Some key performance indicators of 2019 are set out in the table
below:

Key Performance
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BAMMESFHE] MRERERR
BERMER REEENE - BRE
BREEHEF AR THEDRBTNE
Ko EA2019F EH) — LT RERAEN
FEIRR TR

Indicators (KPIs) Unit
BRENER Name £8 Efy 2019 2018
Al1 Nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions RELWHHMENO,) Ton I 4109 4303
Sulphur dioxide (S02) emissions ZELHEERE"(SO,) Ton 1 129.8 1282
Particulate emission Rk BE N E Ton [ 63.0 57.5
(in terms of smoke and dust) (LAfZEEST)
A12 Total carbon dioxide emission (COz) R B ERA) —E/Lire KTon 1,859.9 2,300.6
from power plants =(COx) iR FE
Chemical carbon dioxide emission B ZE) = &1t Hx k'Ton 16145 910.0
B Tz
Intensity of carbon dioxide emission  HEAA (HE)H kg/kwh 0.9 09
from power generator (electricity k=¥ 1727 97 G Tr/TRE
supply)
A13 Total hazardous waste BEREYES Ton 3,119.3 23414
Discharge intensity 7 CAER kg/Ton 23 2.0
Ty /w8
Al4 Total general waste —fRENES Ton I 205,869.9 212,419.2
Discharge intensity 7GR kg/Ton 153.1 180.1
Tre/u8

@ The calculation basis of total sulphur dioxide (SO,) emissions for the above
indicator A1.1 is: average concentration x hourly flow rate x operating time

@  The calculation basis of total carbon dioxide (CO,e) emissions for the above
A1.2 indicators is: (Calorific value x CO, emission factor value of raw coal x
oxidation rate x relative molecular mass of carbon dioxide) / carbon molecular
mass

® The calculation of the emission density is: the emission amount / the annual
output of main products

(The output of main products refers to the annual tonnage of chloromethane,

caustic soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated
industrial products)
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KPI A1.5 DESCRIPTION OF MEASURES TO MITIGATE
EMISSIONS AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

1. Measures to mitigate emissions

With due regards to the prevention and control of atmospheric
pollutants, Jiangsu L&MW Chemical ensures that the emission
of atmospheric pollutants is up to standards by stepping up
investments in environmental protection and implementation
of technological upgrade plan for environmental protection.
Supported by Foreign Economic Cooperation Office of the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment, both Jiangsu L&M
Chemical and Jiangxi L&M Chemical completed the technical
improvement project of carbon tetrachloride raffinate disposal
and organic waste gas incineration facilities in 2019, which
incinerated the raffinate and organic waste gases produced
by the chloromethane workshop in a harmless way, so
that all raffinate could be disposed in the plant to avoid the
environmental risks occurred during transfer and disposal.

The Company has established management system of the leak
detection and repair (“LDAR"), which can find out the leaking
point of production equipment through regular detection and
then deal with it, so as to control the leakage loss of the VOCs
and reduce the pollution to environment.

Flash evaporation device for wastewater has been built in
chloromethane workshop by the two factories. By means of
such device, organic compounds, namely methylene chloride,
chloroform and carbon tetrachloride, in wastewater can be
evaporated and recycled by means of the difference in boiling
point, where the boiling point of organic compound is lower
than that of water. Therefore, it ensures that emission of
organic compounds in wastewater is up to standard while
improving economic benefits can be augmented. Triple effect
evaporators were built in the sewage treatment station of
the two factories to comprehensively recycle and use the
wastewater from the hydrogen peroxide workshop to reduce
wastewater discharge.

With regard to energy consumption in production and
manufacturing, we adhere to standardized and regulated high-
standard management of energy-saving. The GB/T36132
green factory evaluation and I1SO50001 energy management
system certification were passed, which keep as a leading
energy efficiency enterprise in Jiangsu Province. The unit
energy consumption of one of our main products, chloride
methane, is approximately 219 kgce/t (national advanced
value is 235 kgce/t and national average value is 255 kgce/t),
and that of the sodium hydroxide products is about 313 kgce/t
(national advanced value is 315 kgce/t and national average
value is 325 kgce/t), outperforming industry standard.
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At Jiangxi L&M Chemical, the ultra-low emission transformation
of boilers #2 and #3 were completed and accepted in
2019, which reduced pollutant emissions and saved energy
effectively.

Results achieved

The two factories in the PRC have taken the initiative to
embark upon a system of clean production and energy
management to encourage and augment energy saving and
emission reduction.

The clean production system of Jiangsu L&M Chemical
has been accepted and verified by Changshu Municipal
Commission of Economic and Information Technology and
Environmental Protection Bureau; its energy management
system has also passed the evaluation conducted by Jiangsu
Economic and Information Technology Commission. While
the clean production system of Jiangxi L&M Chemical has
been accepted by Environmental Protection Agency of Jiujiang,
and its energy management system has passed 1ISO50001
verification.
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Jiangxi L&M Chemical - the publicity poster of green factory:
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Jiangxi L&M Chemical pooled the wisdom and efforts of
everyone to a green factory characterized by economical
and intensive use of land, harmless raw materials, clean
production, recycling of wastes and low-carbonation of energy
sources. It was declared as a provincial “green factory” in April
2019 through self-assessment. The assessment was organised
by third-party and the provincial industrial and information
administration departments and the publicity of expert
certification.

Jiangsu L&M Chemical was awared the green factory
assessment certificate by China Quality Certification Center
in 2019.
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Jiangxi L&M Chemical passed the first energy

management system supervision and audit of

China Quality Certification Center in 2019.
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Jiangxi L&M Chemical power station was honoured with “Demonstration Center of Circulating
Fluidized Bed Boiler with Ultra-low Emission”.
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Jiangsu L&M Chemical has already been certified as a
production safety standardization Grade Il enterprise
(hazardous chemical) and is now applying for production
safety standardization Grade | enterprise in the coming year.

TEIEXCTERBAR 2 EREC _RER (L)
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Wk 45

CERTIFICATE
W LA BRI

KPI A1.6 DESCRIPTION OF HOW HAZARDOUS WASTES ARE
HANDLED, REDUCTION INITIATIVES AND RESULTS
ACHIEVED

Different types of hazardous wastes of Jiangsu L&MW Chemical and Jiangxi
L&M Chemical are processed in strict accordance with the requirements
of environmental laws and regulations by external qualified entities.
We exercise whole — process control over compliance in the course
of production, collection, storage, transfer and subsequent disposal of
different types of hazardous wastes. Concurrently, we have enhanced
our source management. Through optimizing production techniques,
we gradually realize recycling and re-utilization and reduction in exhaust
generation.

An appropriate brine ratio was applied at the sodium hydroxide workshop
to effectively reduce the amount of raw salt and general solid waste.
The salt mud dryers were used by the two factories in 2019. The water
content of salt mud dropped from 45% to less than 10%, thus saving
the disposal costs of solid waste for salt mud.
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Jiangxi L&M Chemical was awarded the
certificate and plaque of production safety
standardization Grade Ill enterprise (hazardous
chemical) in July 20719.
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The following is the treatment and discharge of water pollutants in
Jiangsu L&M Chemical. It can be seen that the actual discharge is less
than the limit through reasonable technological transformation.

AT RITEIE X TR R YA G 12 BBk
W AIAERBBEENTERMEE &
BEROBERYLRERD -

. Emission limit
BERBRE

. Monitoring results
ERER

(mg/L)
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ASPECT A2 POLICIES ON THE USE OF RESOURCES

Production at the two factories in the PRC involves such fuels as
raw coal, liquefied natural gas (used in hydrogen fluoride production
equipment), diesel and industrial water. We emphasize and encourage
saving and efficient use of resources and have strengthened recycling
and re-tilization to avoid wastage of resources. Some key performance
indicators of 2019 are listed below:
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HK ESG
Guide
BHBESG Unit
k] Name = By 2019 2018
A2.1 Total coal consumption BB E T IRIREE 19,745.0 18,300.3
Coal consumption intensity HEREEED TJ/Ton 0.023 0.026
JKKEE 1
Coal consumption BEFEE (ARHE) T IRIREE 12,847.2 11,8348
(for electricity supply)
Total chemical coal consumption BAMETE EREES T JRIKEHE 10,738.2 9,664.7
Chemical coal consumption Bt T EREE T)IRIKEE 8,446.4 7,599.7
(for electricity supply) (ARHE)
Fuel consumption for boil BOREREE T IRIREE 25.5 11.9
fire ignition and diesel motor (ARAERE
power generation BhN RS I E
A2.2 Water discharge KEEW = Cubic meter 238,100.0  232,359.0
AR
Discharge intensity HEREEe Cubic meter/ 0.177 0.197
Ton
TR,
A2.5 Total amount of packaging materials k@R B & FHEE Ton M@ 34,590.9 33,982.8
Package consumption per BEEEMILEES Kg/Ton 55.0 60.0
production unit Fie,/ W
Notes: et -
@  The calculation of coal consumption density is: the emission amount / the annual ~ @  FEEBEMNAEAR  KEZBE 2FIERES

output of main product

@  The calculation of water discharge density is: the emission amount / the annual output @

of main product

(The output of main product refers to the annual tonnage of chloromethane, caustic
soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated industrial products)

®  The calculation of package consumption per production unit: the total amount of ©)
packaging materials in the year / the output of finished products to be packaged in the

year.
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KPI A2.3 DESCRIPTION OF ENERGY USE EFFICIENCY

INITIATIVES AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

In terms of energy efficiency management, the two factories in the PRC

prepared the “Energy Management Manua

|n

, which was signed and issued

by the General Manager and implemented by the factories.

Specific measures for energy efficiency management include:

1.

Each production workshop manages its own energy consumption;

The control office is responsible for the coordination and balance of
energy consumption between each production workshop;

The energy measurement office is responsible for monitoring the
energy consumption, measurement, and accounting report, and
feeding back and handling the abnormal energy consumption;

High energy efficiency equipment is preferred;

Energy leakage must be prevented.

The two factories in the PRC have achieved the following results in
energy efficiency:

1.

In places with high temperature reactive gas (e.g. chlorinated
reactive gas from chlorinated methane device) and burning tail gas
(e.g. high temperature pyrolysis gas of tetrafluoroethylene device,
incinerator tail gas, tail gas from anhydrous hydrogen fluoride device
and hot-blast stove), residual heat boiler or heat exchanger are
installed for recycling steam or hot water so as to enhance energy use
efficiency and lower energy consumption.

Circulating fluidized bed boiler is adopted and heat efficiency
reaches above 89%.

Circulating water of chloralkali plants and fluoride plants is
reasonably allocated. Water pumps at circulating water stations are
modified to reduce hydraulic head and lower electricity consumption
for circulating water.

Recycling tower of the chloromethane plant has been modified to
reduce heat dissipation and improve efficiency of energy utilization.

Oxidized tail gas turboexpander refrigerating generator set at the
hydrogen peroxide workshop is connected with the photovoltaic
power generation system distributed on the roof of office in the
factory area.
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6. Circulating water pump for public works and chloromethane
compressor have been equipped with frequency conversion control
to reduce the energy consumption of the equipment.

7. LED has replaced the high pressure sodium lamps for device
lighting and road lamps in the factory area, so as to reduce cost by
saving power and prolonging service life.

8. Residual heat produced by the tail gas incinerator at the
chloromethane workshop has been utilized to produce 0.8Mpa
steam for self-use, reducing outsourcing heat.

9. The waste heat from the power station is used to heat the industrial
park to optimize the energy structure and improve the energy
efficiency.

10. The surplus energy of circulating water was used and electric fans
changed to turbines to reduce power consumption.

KPI A2.4 ENHANCEMENT OF WATER USE EFFICIENCY AND
RESULTS ACHIEVED

At Jiangsu L&M Chemical, we have formulated a stringent management
system as well as assessment indicators for water consumption and water
conservation. Per-unit water consumption is assessed on a daily basis. We
continually explore potential aspects where saving on water consumption
is possible and have adopted numerous water-saving measures. We
also have made continuous efforts to promote the recycling efficiency
of the wastewater. By reusing the inorganic wastewater produced by
sodium hydroxide workshop in the salt treatment process, discharge of
wastewater was reduced from 400 tons/day to 200 tons/day. According
to the water balance tests for the whole factory that we regularly conduct,
water reuse rate for the whole factory is 98.62%; indirect chilled water
recycling rate is 99.30%; and steam condensed water recycling rate is
94.32%.

We invested in a reclaimed water reuse facility at Jiangsu L&M Chemical
in 2019. Upon being used, the facility recovered 12.7 tons of purified
water per hour, and saved 100,000 tons of purified water per year. At
the same time, the “"zero” discharge of circulating water was achieved
through the purification and recycling of recycled water. We also have
made continuous efforts to promote the recycling efficiency of the
wastewater. By reusing the recycling wastewater produced by sodium
hydroxide workshop in the salt treatment process, the annual discharge
of wastewater was reduced by 40,000 tons.
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Below is our factory-built water recycling device that is already in use.

TR IMEZNERKEAREED EEER -

In 2019, all the underground wastewater pipelines at Jiangsu L&M
Chemical were replaced with overhead pipelines to prevent the risk
caused by underground transportation.

An energy-saving team and energy management office led by the General
Manager were set up at Jiangxi L&M Chemical. Based on collecting
the team’s advices from all staffs, the assessment indicators for water
consumption also developed to link the per-unit water consumption
with performance assessment. Numerous water-saving measures and
continuous efforts were made to promote the recycling efficiency of the
wastewater. The inorganic wastewater produced by the sodium hydroxide
workshop was used in the salt treatment process to achieve zero
discharge of wastewater, and the cleaning water in the polymerization
workshop was also recycled to reduce the sewage discharge.

In advocacy of the spirit of environmental protection, Jiangxi L&M
Chemical carried out specific actions for environmental improvement,
completed post-assessment on environmental impact and technological
upgrade plan for environmental protection, and reduced discharge
of pollutant by upgrading to more stringent benchmarks. Meanwhile,
an “Implementation Plan for Rainwater System Improvement” was
developed to strengthen control over the rainwater system of the factory
and improve the capability of resisting environmental risks.
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At Jiangxi L&M Chemical, we also actively optimize production techniques.
In 2019, circulated water use rate was 99.07% and repeated water use
rate was 98.21%. Jiangxi L&M Chemical was awarded the “water-saving
Enterprise in Jiujiang” title.

ASPECT A3 THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
The environment and natural resources:

The Company emphasizes and encourages conservation and the efficient
use of resources. Through the improvement of environmental friendly
techniques in production, we have achieved continual reduction of
pollutant emissions and avoided resources wastage through recycling
and reuse. Concurrently, through establishing an energy management
system and I1SO14001 environmental management system, we have
incorporated the ideas of environmental protection and energy saving
in our daily operation and production, in advocacy of green office and
production environment.

The factories in the PRC actively fulfilled their environmental protection
obligations. All emissions of water and air pollutants met the standards
in 2019. Meanwhile, the public welfare activities of environmental
protection were carried out to publicize the Company's environmental
protection concept. In 2019, Jiangsu L&M Chemical was awarded the
title of “Enterprise with Environmental and Social Responsibility” by China
Environment News.
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Noise Protection:

We understand that when dealing with chemical production, it is
inevitable that there will be noise from the large compressor equipment,
which may have an impact on the environment.

Therefore, we have set up greenbelts near noise sources and factory
boundaries. For the noise sources, indoor installation and sound
insulation doors and windows are adopted. We have adopted “low noise”
equipment and reduced noise at its sources through installing vibration
proof pads. We provide employees exposed to noises with protective
devices such as anti-noise earplugs and ear protective devices. Disposable
earplugs are provided in the room, and all personnel must wear them
when entering. Discontinuous contact is conducted in accordance with
the inspection cycle, so as to shorten the working duration of employees
at noise sources and ensure their physical and mental well-being.

The safety and environment divisions of the two factories also conduct
period testing of noise levels on a monthly basis and showcase results
on-site so as to ensure factory noise meets the requirements of the
“Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary”.
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SOCIETY
Aspect Bl Employment relations:

Talent is the key to corporate development, especially for a chemical
enterprise. As of 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately
2,100 full-time employees and KPI B1.1 is as follows:

Total Workforce by Gender

1,800
1,600 1,581
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200

0

Male 5

Both of the two factories in the PRC provide accommodation
and transportation pick-up service for the staff. Keeping track
of the conditions in the labour market and trends of economic
development, the Group makes reasonable adjustments to staff
remuneration every year to keep it at a competitive level. Year-end
bonuses are distributed based on the performance of individual
employees and of the Group profit. Factory areas are equipped
with modern equipment and hardware to create a comfortable
and clean environment for employees. The Group established a
research institute, comprising a research and development team led
by academicians of Chinese Academy of Sciences and a number
of professors, in support of maintaining our status as a high-tech
enterprise and our future development.
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Total Workforce by Positions LA B D
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Academic Qualifications Distribution Chart BREKED M
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Distribution Chart of Age Groups

1.67%
(35)

At Jiangxi L&M Chemical, we have set up a “Home of Staff”
equipped with 944 staff dormitories. In the dormitory area, there are
recreational amenities such as basketball court, indoor badminton
court, table tennis court, billiards, yoga studio. There is also a
library equipped with board games to enable staff to enrich their
knowledge and broaden their horizons after work.

Table tennis competition in the dormitory area:
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Aspect B2 Health and Safety

“Safety Production Commitment” of Lee & Man Chemical stipulates
that we shall seek to achieve the best business performance of zero
occurrence of major incidents and no damage to employees' health
or to the environment, and shall actively promote the corporate
culture of safety production and create a safety production
atmosphere.

The Company has modified “Safety Production Responsibility
System” and strictly implemented “a post with double duties”
according to the legal regulations and the latest personnel structure
of the Company. The Company’s supervisors and production
cadres have signed “Safety and Environment Protection Target
Responsibility Letter in 2019" and shall assign safety production
responsibilities to all employees strictly.

[EEB2 REREZZ

Bt I K2 EEARE)RD - X
BERTELEEAEHN - TEZEETR
B PBIRRENGEASZERE &
BB RAZEXL » EELELEES
°

BESINERER R AR RHTAZLEE
(R EERTHDETER - BEE
Bl—EHEE] RaBENMEERILH
FE TQOIFELZRBEZEAE) &
BEE2EMT2EERT -

Safety Performance of Lee & Man Chemical in 2019 2019F BN /LIRERE

KPI

BREN

EE Name =L 2019 2018

B2.1 Mortality T 0 0
Mortality rate T x 0 0
Number of traffic accident RBEWEHE 0 0

B2.2 Work-related injury cases Ti5BE 1 1
Working days lost due to work-related injury R TS5k TEE & 9 0
Injury rate/million working hours BEIREEX 0.36 0.36
Incidence of occupational diseases B EmERE 0 0
Ratio of employees accepting BEXEERENES LS 100% 100%

medical examination

According to national specifications on construction design of fire
control and other relevant laws and regulations, fire detection and
alarm systems as well as other fire services systems are available to
cover the production equipment and office space of the Company.
The existing fire safety design ensures personal and property safety
of all staff members. Throughout the process design, equipment
and material selection, layout and fire services access of the
company, various fire protection measures are in place, including
lightning protection grounding, emergency lighting, emergency
communication, fire alarm, video monitoring, etc.
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KPI B2.3

The Group strictly follows relevant national laws and regulations
relating to occupational health. We provide free-of-charge body
checkup, once a year, at hospitals qualified for occupational disease
examination, to ensure our staff's physical well-being.

Aspect B3 Development and Training

The Group emphasizes staff safety training, skill training and career
development education. A comprehensive training system is in
place and improvement measures are formulated according to
training results so as to continually enhance training effectiveness. In
addition, in terms of technical positions, each newly hired employee
will receive pre-employment technical training to improve his/her
professional skills required for the job.

Staff training provided by the two factories of the Group free of
charge in 2019:

1. Provided special operation work permit training in 35 areas,
including pressure pipeline inspection and maintenance,
chlorination process, safety management personnel and
pressure vessel, etc, for 1,157 employees.

2. The two factories organized all employees to case study “3+21
Extremely Serious Explosion Accident of Jiangsu Xiangshui
Tianjiayi Chemical Co., Ltd". The case study also inferred
other things from the above fact by inspecting the storage of
hazardous wastes and raw and auxiliary materials as well as
the compliance of all project construction.

3. Conducted specialized technical training in production skills
in the form of ‘team gathering’ for all production staff every
month.

4. Conducted departmental skill training in at least 2 areas.

Besides, to improve the employees’ professional quality and
performance ability, Jiangxi L&M Chemical assigned staffs to other
chloralkali enterprise in Shaanxi, so to study their advanced safety
management. Based on the Company's actual production, our staffs
compiled and prepared “Basic Knowledge Training Materials” for
factory workers' reference and study.
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KPI B3.1 & B3.2 Training Performance of

In 2019, the Group has arranged 1,845 employees to attend
specialized training related to their work and relevant process
training (In 2018, there were 1,741 employees attended such

Lee & Man Chemical

BREENEEB3.1KB3.2 EX{tT

BARE

NEEE2019F FELZHHE B 20858
=P AR B Y A AR 1S I 251,845 A &0
(2018FEEEZ 1,741 AZM) -

trainings).
Percent of  Average training
total staff number hours per person
| A (EE-PN 4] A IR EF
Position Above Supervisor 193 (178) 9.19% (9.1%) 74 (74)
Bk FENE
Below Supervisor 1,652 (1,563) 78.63% (80.2%) 74 (74)
FEUT
Gender Male 1,425 (1343) 67.82% (68.9%) 74 (74)
par e
Female 420 (398) 20.00% (20.4%) 74 (74)
z
* FEIMA /2201 8F K LL B L
20195 ER S EIRE
Department Needs of Training Target
il EINER EIHR
Production workshop 1. Process specification Workshop staff & worker
HERRE TERE ERBET
2. Specialized knowledge of equipment Workshop staff & worker
REBEZE M EEBET
3. Labor protective equipment & wearing standard Al factory staff & worker
LEEARRBTR ImAZE
4. Knowledge of laws and regulations Staff at supervisor level or above
TERIEIR AR FERFSALEET
5. Special operation electrolysis process, Workshop staff & worker
chlorination process
HREEXEMIE ST EfRBET
6.  Special equipment operation pressure vessel, Workshop staff & worker
pressure pipeline
RFRERBEXENRZS  EBHEE BEREBET
7. Special operation high voltage electrician, Workshop staff & worker
low voltage electrician
FREXREEL - KEEL ERBET
8. "6S" Management Al factory staff & worker
"6S" B ITHAZE
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Department Needs of Training Target
il EINER FIH R
Office 1. Corporate culture, work etiquette Al staff
/NS PEXE - TR ERET
2. ERP computer system operation Responsible operator
ERP B R ARIRIE BEBRIEAR
3. 1SO9000/14000 Training All staff
ISO9000/14000 £ 3l 2EET
4. Financial system and tax regulations Finance Department and related
B 755 11l FE RO A 75 A 54 departments

5. Procurement process and system

REBRELHIE

6. Safety standardization specification
L EIRE(LRE

The followings are pictures of the in-service employees attending
training courses organized by the Company.

BA 75 R N AE RA B P
Procurement department and
related departments
PRES R N AE A AR P

All staff

2HEET

AT AR R T2 MH 2 5B
RIZE A
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Aspect B4 Labor Standards

Pursuant to laws and regulations such as Labour Law and Regulation
on Work-Related Injury Protection, the Group has established a
comprehensive remuneration system, recruitment procedure and
staff career development plan, etc. We provide social security and
welfare packages (5 insurances and housing fund), annual leave,
festival subsidy and free meals on working days. The Group has
also formulated appropriate Staff Manual and policies to clearly put
forward Lee & Man Chemical's 7 corporate spirits: Integrity, fairness,
attitude, efficiency, perseverance, innovation and team spirit,
creating sound and harmonious labor relations for our staff.

We act in accordance with international human rights standards as
stipulated in The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the
Child and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, including
prohibition of employing child labor and protecting minors,
prohibition of forced labor, safety and health, freedom of forming
labor organizations, prohibition of discrimination, prohibition of
unfair punishment, working hours and wage standards, etc.

Regarding staff complaints, the Group has established a
comprehensive system. Staff can provide their feedback through
the general manager’'s mailbox, e-mails and internal instant
communication apps “DingTalk”. Such feedback are to be dealt with
and resolved in a timely manner.

Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management

A comprehensive supply chain management program has been
built, and all of our suppliers undergo stringent entry assessment,
in-service supervision, regular review and exit procedures according
to supplier entry assessment system. The Group assesses the
background, qualification, service quality control of similar types
in the past, contract performance, project team professionalism,
corporate integrity and social responsibility of its cooperative
suppliers and grades them according to the assessment results
every year. Well-performed suppliers are more preferred when we
place orders, while those that do not pass the aforesaid evaluation
are named under our list of unqualified suppliers. At the same time,
a supplier exit procedure is established. For those who do not meet
the requirements of the Company, the supplier qualification can be
cancelled according to the procedure.
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The supplier management system has been optimized. The Group
inputs the supplier's main qualification into the system which will
automatically remind it when the qualification expires to avoid the
situation that the qualification expires and is not updated. For long-
term uncooperative units, a fixed period is set to automatically
remove them from the list of qualified suppliers.

The supplier system has been further improved. The Group sorts
out materials provided by single supplier and materials with stable
prices, and introduces tender competition according to actual
conditions so that the factory can obtain the best materials and
services.

The framework procurement mechanism has been improved. For
primary raw materials, the Group chooses and purchases the best
frameworks by comparing the historical purchase cost and the
formula price of framework contract which decreases the cost and
improves supply stability.

The key suppliers have to undergo on-site random check every year
to be conducted by departments that are respectively in charge of
quality, quality control, procurement and production. Suppliers are
required to correct the problems identified on site within a fixed
period of time. Those who fail the assessment shall be eliminated.
All incoming raw materials are tested and stored in specific places
according to pre-set standards, guaranteeing that every batch of raw
materials used for production is controllable and traceable.

In case of quality irregularity on raw materials, our procurement
department, quality control department and production workshop
will assign staff members to communicate with suppliers to identify
and solve problems promptly, so that production can continue
under the pre-set process parameters and is not interrupted.

At present, the suppliers of main raw materials, such as raw salt,
methanol and fluorite, have cooperated with the Company for
many years, therefore, the company has great advantages in
terms of price and supply guarantee. We have established a solid
strategic partnership with the suppliers of main raw materials, so
as to provide a stable guarantee for the Company’s continuous
production.

With regard to the logistics and transport of products, only qualified
transport companies will be employed by the Group to transport
the hazardous chemicals. Transport companies, drivers, handling
technicians and escorts have received safety education and logistics
personnel from the sales department will conduct a rigorous review
and evaluation to them. Vehicles must be inspected and maintained
regularly to void leakage during the transportation.
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The Group possesses a comprehensive management system and
undergoes annual assessment of its quality environment system
and certificate renewal assessment by SGS-CSTC Standards
Technical Services Co., Ltd. regularly every year. In addition, pursuant
to national requirements, we have obtained safety, production and
operation permit relating to hazardous chemicals and regularly
undergo random testing and inspection by relevant government
departments, attaining a random inspection pass rate of 100%.

Aspect B6 Product Quality Control and Responsibility

The two factories of Lee & Man Chemical have passed the
certification of quality and environment management system
ISO9001:2015 and ISO14001:2015, as well as Occupational
Health and Safety Management System 1SO45001:2018.

SEETENBEREE BFEMEX
SCSRIZARYHAEERRMEAETT
—FEEZNEZTERNRE AR
BEXMEMSLERERNEZE - £
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RSP MR - ME - iR =X
100% °

EEB6EmEEREZMELL

32 XAk TR 9 38 38 T 1509001
2015 + 1SO14001 : 2015 EH B8R IEEE
BRHREMISO45001 : 20188 5 &
B2 ERERARE o

The certificates obtained by Jiangsu L&MW Chemical: The certificates obtained by Jiangxi L&M Chemical:
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The Company has comprehensive product execution standards
and possesses advanced testing equipment (including ICP, gas
chromatograph, liquid chromatograph, ion chromatograph, Karl
Fischer moisture titrator, potentiometric titrator, total chlorine
analyzer, near infrared spectrum, etc.), ensuring that chemical
products meet the requirements under relevant production
indicators and enterprise indicators in various aspects including raw
materials, program control and finished products inspection.

Before delivery, every batch of products will undergo testing in
accordance with our corporate standards and national standards
and qualified products will undergo differential storage. Every batch
of products for sale will be delivered together with a product testing
report as well as hazardous chemicals SDS, emergency contact
telephone number etc, to ensure traceability of product safe use,
timely support from our sales department and convenient enquiry
in case of after-sale problems.

None of the sold products have been recalled due to safety
or health problems. With regard to customer complaints about
product quality and service, the quality control department will
organize relevant departments for meeting and discussion, find
out the reasons, and propose corrective and preventive measures.
The complaint contents will be summarized and the number of
complaints will be counted every year.

Chloromethane, Caustic soda and other products traditionally
produced by L&M Chemical was awarded the title of Famous
Product in Jiangxi in 2019. Many advanced devices have been
provided for the production of two polymer materials to help
improve the product quality.

Analysis room of polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) produced by
Jiangxi L&MW Chemical has been equipped with total organic carbon
(TOC) analyzer, which is used for the detection of TOC in ultra-pure
water to ensure that the water quality meets the requirements. The
Company has introduced new PTFE products according to demands
of market and customers. So far, special materials for dispersion,
213X and 213T, and modified dispersion resins, 201, 202 and 203,
have been developed for the production of high-end products such
as extruded tubes, fibers, wires, capillaries, biaxially oriented film and
heat exchanger tubes. The company's polytetrafluoroethylene resin
was awarded the title of “Famous Product in Jiangxi”.
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Laboratory of chlorinated polyvinyl chloride (CPVC) produced by
Jiangsu L&M Chemical has also been provided with advanced
equipment, including total chlorine analyzer, impact pendulum
tester, thermal deformation vicat tester, etc, to meet requirements
for various types of detection and control. CPVC blend compound
products have passed UL (Underwriter Laboratories Inc.) product
certification in 2018 and American NSF (National Sanitation
Foundation) certification in 2019.

The factory has introduced new types of products, such as various
types of CPVC tubes and sheets, in the existing CPVC resin
production capacity. These products have obtained Manufacture
License of Special Equipment for Pressure Piping Element (certificate
No.: TS271097T-2022) issued by State Administration for Market
Regulation, and Hygiene Permit Approval Document of CPVC Tubes
for Water Supply [Approval Document No. (S.) W. S. Zi. (2018) No.
3205-0184] issued by Suzhou Health Committee.

In addition, both factories of Lee & Man Chemical have obtained
“Food Production License” for food additive Sodium Hydroxide, and
"Hygiene Permit Approval Document for Products Related to Health
and Safety of Drinking Water” for sodium hypochlorite solution.
Jiangxi L&M Chemical also obtained “Hygiene Permit Approval
Document for Products Related to Health and Safety of Drinking
Water” for polyaluminium chloride (liquid and solid).

Lee & Man Chemical attaches great importance to the safety of
consumer data and information. According to the requirements of
laws and regulations, it takes certain safety protection measures
and also strengthens employees’ understanding of the importance
of protecting information through education for the purpose of
protecting consumer information and privacy.
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Aspect B7 Anti-corruption Standards

The Group adheres to business integrity, abides by business ethics
and resolutely resists corruption and bribery. According to the Staff
Manual of Lee & Man Chemical, new employees will receive training
documents to learn the Company's expectations before their
admission.

In 2019, the Company formulated a <Employee Service Interest
& Conflict Management System>, stipulating that money extortion,
bribery and gift or reward used for bribery will be penalized by
way of terminating labor contract. The general manager's mailbox
has been made available and it is opened at least once a week by
specific personnel. Such arrangement is considered an effective tool
for preventing corruption and bribery acts.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had no
corruption complaint cases.

Aspect B8 Care for Community

As well-known local enterprises, the two factories of Lee & Man
Chemical in the PRC undertake social responsibilities in their
production activities, taking the initiative to participate in various
social activities.

In April, 2019, in order to reflect the Company's safety culture
management concept and upgrade the Company's green factory
image, Jiangsu L&M Chemical held the first Factory Open Day
activity. The main guests of this activity are leaders of the economic
& development zone, representatives of surrounding enterprises,
representatives of surrounding communities and representatives of
employees’ family members.
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In June 2019 and October 2019, a charitable social activity under
the theme of safe and environmentally friendly communities was
held at Jiangnan Yinxiang Town and Binjiang Neighborhood Center
of Changshu Economic & Technological Development Zone by the
Company. We explained our concept of safety and environmental
protection by putting up posters and playing promotion video of the
Company. By scanning the QR code of WeChat and following the
WeChat official account, people can understand the achievements
in safety and environmental protection of Lee & Man Chemical.

Employees spotted of the charitable social activity:
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Jiangsu L&M Chemical always remember the original intention of
charity in the process of development. The Company's labour union
participated in the activity of “making donation to charity”, extending
a helping hand to the families in need in the local community.
In March 2019, the representative of the labour union gave the
donation to the deputy director of Binjiang Police Station and
expressed the sincere condolences of Lee & Man Chemical.

Jiangxi L&M Chemical supports community development and
provides public welfare support: The Company donated to Wanquan
Village of Zhaochen Town through Ruichang Red Cross in January
2019 for the construction of the village's “rapeseed base” poverty
alleviation project, helping poor households to get rid of poverty as
soon as possible; to support poverty alleviation in Ruichang City and
assist cultural poverty alleviation, the Company helped Ruichang
Ganghang Law Enforcement Brigade to provide poverty alleviation
aid to Longwo Village of Matou Town, and donated poverty
alleviation funds for the construction of public welfare cultural
corridor. Under the background of the country's vigorous promotion
of national fitness, table tennis has become “National Ball”. In
July 2019, the Company sponsored the “Second Yangtze River
Economic Belt Table Tennis Mixed Team Competition” organized by
Ruichang City to encourage national fithess and actively respond to
national calls.
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In June 2019, led by the safety and environment protection
department and with the cooperation of factory administration
office, general manager office, personnel department and other
departments, Jiangxi L&M Chemical approached Ruichang People’s
Square. Through the distribution of brochures and the circular
broadcasting of Lee & Man Chemical's propaganda video, it actively
spread the Company’s concept of safety and environmental
protection and helped people in Ruichang to have a further
understanding of Lee & Man Chemical.
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To popularize scientific quality management methods, spread
quality management knowledge, disseminate quality culture,
promote the exchange and mutual learning of quality management
modes and methods, and improve the quality management level,
Jiangxi L&M Chemical held “Quality Month” activity in September
2019. During the period, it carried out the “"Quality Open Day”
activity with the theme of “setting quality benchmark and expanding
innovation spirit”. More than 50 people including leaders of
Ruichang Administration for Market Regulation, leaders of industrial
city and enterprise representatives were invited to enter the factory.
Accompanied by senior management of the Company, they saw
the propaganda display board, and visited the central control room,
product analysis and testing center, production workshop, etc.,
learned the quality management mode of Jiangxi L&M Chemical
and exchanged management experience.
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The following group photo picture was taken by representatives in
front of the office building of Jiangxi L&M Chemical
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During the “National Energy Saving Publicity Week” in June 2019,
the “National Low Carbon Day” fell on June 19. To thoroughly
implement the development concept of clean production and
green development, Jiangxi L&\W Chemical has carried out a series
of activities, such as theme publicity, energy knowledge training,
energy conservation knowledge competition, theme sign-in and
energy conservation inspection, centering on the theme of “green
development, energy conservation first” and “low-carbon action,
blue sky protection”.

Ball games and group activities, such as football game, basketball
game, tug-of-war, marathon, etc., were held by Labour union of the
two factories. The employees participated actively in such games
and activities. The picture attached shows the “Lee & Man Chemical
Cup” Men’s Basketball Game held by Jiangxi L&M Chemical.
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In October 2019, 2019 Changshu International Half Marathon was
held in Jiangsu Province. As one of the sponsoring enterprises,
Lee & Man Chemical sent employee representatives to attend
it. The athletes finally crossed the finish line with the tenacious
spirit, challenged themselves, and carried forward the spirits of
perseverance and persistence. The expression of joy on the faces
of the athletes shows the spirit of marathon in the best way. The
following picture shows the group photo of participants.
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Participating in the Premier League matches hosted by Hong Kong
Football Association, the Group sponsored a football team named
under Lee & Man. Considering the development of local young
players as its own responsibility, Lee Man Football Club provides
suitable training plans for young players under the age of 18, so that
they can take care of both academic and football training. It hopes
that players can stay competitive in Hong Kong Premier League,
play for the Hong Kong team in the future and give play to the spirit
of sports.

Lee Man Football Club won the champion of Hong Kong Sapling
Cup in 2019, marking a historical record of the club.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEERN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. WAI Siu Kee, aged 75, Chairman of the Group who joined the
Group since its establishment in 1976. Ms. Wai has more than 54
years of experience in the manufacturing industry. She is responsible
for the development of corporate strategies, corporate planning and
overall management of the Group and in particular the marketing and
development of the business of the Group. Ms. Wai is the honorary
permanent president of the Hong Kong Baptist University Foundation. Ms.
Wai is the mother of Mr. Lee Man Yan, the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Group.

Mr. LEE Man Yan, aged 42, the member of Chinese People's Political
Consultative Committee of Jiangxi and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Lee is in charge of the
corporate and strategic planning of the Group, and is responsible for
the management operations, procurement of mechanical materials,
staff management and public relations in the PRC of the business.
He graduated from the University of British Columbia, Canada with a
Bachelor's Degree in Commerce. Mr. Lee was awarded Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 2013 and Young Entrepreneur Award 2013. He is
appointed as member of the Departmental Advisory Committee for the
Department of Chemistry of City University of Hong Kong and Committee
Member of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. Mr. Lee is a son of Ms.
Wai Siu Kee, the Group’s Chairman.

Professor CHAN Albert Sun Chi, aged 69, CPPCC National Committee,
JP, an Executive Director and Chief Strategist of the Group. He joined
the Group in 2016. He is a world-renowned organic chemist, Member
of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and President Emeritus of Hong
Kong Baptist University. He is responsible for the planning of the Group's
overall business and long term strategies, formulating new product
development directions, leading the Group's research and development
team for enhancement of scientific research technology, commercializing
its research results and introducing new products into the market.
Professor Chan received his bachelor degree from International Christian
University in Japan in 1975 and his MSc and PhD degrees from the
University of Chicago respectively in 1976 and 1979. Upon graduation
from the University of Chicago, he started an industrial career at the
Monsanto Corporate Research Laboratories where he had worked for
13 years, rising through the ranks of Senior Research Chemist, Research
Specialist, Senior Research Specialist and finally Monsanto Fellow. Since
joining the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1994, Professor Chan
had served as Chair Professor and Head of the Department of Applied
Biology and Chemical Technology, Dean of the Faculty of Applied Science
and Textiles, and Vice President (Research Development). He was the
4th President and Vice-Chancellor of Hong Kong Baptist University in
2010-2015. Professor Chan's research areas include the application of
chiral catalysts in asymmetric syntheses and their industrial applications,
development of pharmaceutical products and related processes,
pharmaceutical and nutritional products based on Chinese medicines,
new organic chemical processes and their industrial applications, research
and industrial applications of green sciences, novel material discovery
and development, etc. Elected as Member of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in 2001, Professor Chan has received numerous prestigious
awards including State Natural Science Award of China (second class),
Lectureship Award by The Society of Synthetic Organic Chemistry, Japan
and Invitation Fellowship of Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.
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Mr. YANG Zuo Ning, aged 58, an Executive Director of the Group and
General Manager of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined
the Group in 2006. He is a national acclaimed senior engineer and
has 37 years of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is
responsible for the strategic planning, general management and advisory
of production engineering to the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WONG Kai Tung, Tony, aged 77, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co., Solicitors
and Notaries. He is also an independent non-executive director of Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (Stock Code: 2314).

Mr. WAN Chi Keung, Aaron BBS, JP, aged 70, an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Group. He holds a Master's Degree in Business
Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master's
Degree in Buddhist Studies of the University of Hong Kong. He is also
an associate of the Institution of Business Agents, a member of the Land
Institute (London), an associate of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators,
a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting and a fellow of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. He is engaged in the business
of property and chattel valuation and auction and has over 36 years of
related experience. Mr. Wan serves as an independent non-executive
director in CNC Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8356) and Universe
Printshop Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8448).

Mr. HENG Victor Ja Wei, aged 42, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He is a partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Master of Science Degree of the Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of London.
He is a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Heng serves as an independent non-executive director in CIMC-TianDa
Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 0445), Matrix Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1005), SCUD Group Limited (Stock Code: 1399) and Best
Food Holding Company Limited (Stock Code: 1488). He also serves
as the company secretary and authorized representative of China Life
Insurance Company Limited (Stock Code: 2628).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Hiu Fung, aged 49, Financial Controller of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2005 and has 26 years of experience in financial
management. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master's Degree in International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is responsible for the supervision on the financial matters, tax issues and
general management.
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Mr. XIA Xu Dong, aged 45, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006 and has 23 years
of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is responsible for
the supervision and general management of production of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited.

Dr. TSE Man Kin, aged 48, Executive Dean of Research & Development
of the Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 25 years of
experience in chemical research and research management. He holds
a PhD in Chemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and is
a member of the American Chemical Society. He is responsible for the
research and development of the Group.

Mr. WU Zeng Long, aged 50, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee
& Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2007 and has 27 years
of experience in sales, marketing and business development. He holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Applied Chemistry. He is responsible for sales and
logistics activities of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited.

Mr. WAI Hiu Yu, aged 34, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 11 years of
management experience in manufacturing industry. He holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering from The University of British Columbia, Canada.
He is responsible for developing of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited
sales strategies, exploring potential markets and logistics management.

Mr. CHEAH Ming Huat, aged 47, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi
Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2011 and has 22
years of experience in financial management. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and chartered
accountant of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is responsible for
the supervision on the financial matters, treasury management, internal
control, tax issues and general management.

Mr. DING Yao, aged 35, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 12 years
of production engineering experience in refined chemicals and chlor-
alkali industries. He is responsible for the production of fluorochemical
and chlor-alkali chemical and general management of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Mr. QIU Yi Lin, aged 47, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006. He acquired
qualification of mechanical engineer in 2003 and has 23 years of
management experience in power station and electrical and mechanical
equipment. He is responsible for the operation and general management
of power station as well as facility maintenance of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Mr. WONG Hon Ho, aged 45, Director of Information Technology of
the Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 23 years of experience
in strategic planning of information technology. He holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering and a Master's Degree in Philosophy from The
University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the strategic planning and
execution of information technology related matters of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of chemical products.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 85.

An interim dividend of HK18 cents per share amounting to
HK$148,500,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during the
year.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK15
cents per share to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members on 7 May 2020, amounting to HK$123,750,000 in total,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders represented the aggregation of the
share premium and retained profits of HK$955,465,000 (2018:
HK$395,154,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 195.
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's Atticles of Association,
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Wai Siu Kee has entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 1 September 2017 for a period of three years, which will continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by three months’
prior written notice.

Mr. Lee Man Yan has renewed the service agreement with the Company
for a fixed term of three years commencing 16 August 2019, which may
be terminated by either party by three months' prior written notice.

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning has renewed the service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years commencing 27 June 2019,
which may be terminated by either party by three months’ prior written
notice.

Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi has renewed the service agreement with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing 9 May 2019,
which may be terminated by either party by three months prior notice.

All Independent non-executive Directors entered into service contracts
with the Company, for a term of approximately one year, commencing
upon conclusion of the AGM of the year of signing and ending at the
next annual general meeting of the Company but, in any event, no later
than 30 June to the following year of signing.

None of the Directors of the Company who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company not terminable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of directors
and chief executives of the Company and their associates in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(the "SFO")) which have been notified of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Annual Report 2019 F 3

ESRRNRERKRGRZER

R2019F 128318 ARAZEERES
THABMESE B8 ARAR B R EGH
FE(EEREBEHFMBEGRA(BHFRBEK
1) EBXVER) MR 15 R ABRANR (D - B IZA
BIEEEF RS GG EXVIET 8D EE M
SARNRNEBHAER AR AR ([HR
FTMBBERSIAR - REREIIBREE
S5 RAIEGRAIEISGEFE 2 BEM - B
RIEH R ATE A EmRA(T ETmRAID 2 &
MAREBHTEFR S ZIZETR([1ZE
SR me AR E KRBT 2 s A B
T

(a) REQIARBZHFE
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Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

FisE 81T EARARE BT

EEpnA 514 EBERHE RAEBDL

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 495,000,000 60%
FNREE BEmEEA

(b) Share options (b) ERE

Number of ordinary Percentage of the

shares subject to issued share capital

Name of director Capacity options granted of the Company

R H R B AR EARARE T

EEpA 14 g R EREREE RAEF L

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 82,500,000 10%
PNREE BHEEAA

Other than disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief B EXFIEEN  BMEEEAmmTHAER

executive, or any of their associates, had any interests or short
positions in any shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any of its associated corporations, which had to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 14 July 2017,
under which the directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their associates may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted under
the share option scheme of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any twelve months period
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue for the time being.

In addition, any share options to a substantial shareholder and/or an
independent non-executive Director of the Company or any of their
respective associates, and where the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted to such
person in any 12-month period exceed 0.1% of the Company's shares
in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to the
Company's shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Company has 82,500,000 share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, representing approximately
10% of the shares of the Company in issue.

Details of the share option scheme and movement of the share options

during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2019, shareholders (other than directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Number of issued
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Percentage of the
issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company
HEBT

MR A 54 EZEREE RAEBDL

Ms. Kwok Ching Yee Lorinda Interest of Spouse 495,000,000 60%

PEEE T [iR%iEEE

Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial Owner 123,750,000 15%

ESEE BEREAA

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company & FXFr#ES) - R2019F 128318 » i

has not been notified by any persons (other than directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related parties transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) entered into certain transactions
with parties regarded as “related parties” under the applicable accounting
principles. Details of the related party transactions undertaken are set out
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following related parties transactions are also connected transaction
and continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company had complied with the
disclosure requirements of such connected transaction and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules at the relevant time.

Continuing connected transactions

The names of the parties to the discloseable continuing connected
transactions and connected transaction are as follows:

Jiangsu Chemical Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited, a wholly
foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Jiangsu Paper Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Company
Limited, a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
established in the PRC and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of LMP

Jiangxi Chemical Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited, a wholly
foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company
LMP Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
LMP Group LMP and its subsidiaries
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Details of the continuing connected transactions are set out

below:

New Jiangsu Steam and Electricity Agreement

Date of agreement

Parties

Nature of
transaction
and purpose

Term of agreement

Annual caps

28 March 2018
(i) Jiangsu Paper (as supplier)
(i) Jiangsu Chemical (as purchaser)

Jiangsu Paper will generate and supply steam and
electricity to Jiangsu Chemical.

The electricity to be generated and supplied shall
be charged at RMB0.0684 (excluding VAT) per
kWh. The steam to be generated and supplied
shall be charged at RMB25.641 (excluding VAT)
per ton measured by Jiangsu Paper's meter.

3 years commencing from 1 January 2018 up to
and including 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December
2018: RMB80,000,000 (approximately
HK$100,000,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2019: RMB80,000,000 (approximately
HK$100,000,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2020: RMB80,000,000 (approximately
HK$100,000,000)

The actual transaction amount for the year ended 31 December 2019

was HK$71,635,000.
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New Jiangxi Steam and Electricity Agreement

Date of agreement

Parties

Nature of
transaction and
purpose

Term of agreement

Annual caps

28 March 2018
(i) Jiangxi Chemical (as supplier)
(ity LMP (as purchaser)

Jiangxi Chemical will generate and supply steam
and electricity to LMP (or any other member of
the LMP Group).

The electricity to be generated and supplied shall
be charged at RMB0.0684 (excluding VAT) per
kWh. The steam to be generated and supplied
shall be charged at RMB25.641 (excluding VAT)
per ton measured by Jiangxi Chemical's meter.

3 years commencing from 1 January 2018 up to
and including 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December
2018: RMB90,000,000 (approximately
HK$112,500,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2019: RMB90,000,000 (approximately
HK$112,500,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2020: RMB90,000,000 (approximately
HK$112,500,000)

The actual transaction amount for the year ended 31 December 2019

was HK$70,984,000.
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New Jiangsu Lease Agreement

Date of agreement

Parties

Nature of
transaction
and purpose

Term of agreement

Annual caps

28 March 2018
(i) Jiangsu Paper (as lessor)
(i) Jiangsu Chemical (as lessee)

Jiangsu Paper (as lessor) will lease to Jiangsu
Chemical (as lessee) certain properties located
at Lee & Man Road, Yan Jiang Industrial Park,
Changshu Economic Development Zone, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. Such properties comprise:—

1)  third floor office space (at a monthly rate of
RMB7,520)

2) staff quarters (at a monthly rate of RMB581
per room)

3) guestrooms (to be determined based on
actual daily usage at a daily rate of RMB36
per room)

3 years commencing from 1 January 2018 up to

and including 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2018:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

For the year ending 31 December 2019:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

For the year ending 31 December 2020:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

The actual transaction amount for the year ended 31 December 2019

was HK$1,857,000.
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New Jiangxi Lease Agreement

Date of agreement

Parties

Nature of
transaction
and purpose

Term of agreement

Annual caps

28 March 2018
(i) Jiangxi Chemical (as lessor)
(ity LMP (as lessee)

Jiangxi Chemical (as lessor) will lease to LMP (or
any other member of the LMP Group) (as lessee)
certain properties located at Ma Tou Industrial City,
Ma Tou Town, Rui Chang City, Jiangxi Province, the
PRC. Such properties comprise:—

1) staff quarters (at a monthly rate ranging from
RMB581 to RMB1,566 per room)

2) guestrooms (to be determined based on
actual daily usage at a daily rate of RMB36
per room).

3 years commencing from 1 January 2018 up to

and including 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2018:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

For the year ending 31 December 2019:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

For the year ending 31 December 2020:
RMB5,000,000 (approximately HK$6,250,000)

The actual transaction amount for the year ended 31 December 2019

was HK$2,166,000.
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New Chemicals Purchase Agreement

Date of agreement

Parties

Nature of
transaction
and purpose

Term of agreement

Annual caps

28 March 2018
(i) LMP (as purchaser)
(ity the Group (as supplier)

LMP (or any other member of the LMP Group) will
purchase various industrial chemical products from
the Group (or any other member of the Group)
at a price based on the prevailing market price per
ton at the time an order is placed.

The Group will be responsible for the
transportation of the industrial chemical products
to the LMP Group while the transportation costs
will be borne by the LMP Group.

There is no minimum amount of industrial
chemical products required to be purchased by
the LMP Group.

3 years commencing from 1 January 2018 up to
and including 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2018:
RMB110,000,000 (approximately
HK$137,500,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2019: RMB110,000,000 (approximately
HK$137,500,000)

For the year ending 31 December
2020: RMB110,000,000 (approximately
HK$137,500,000)

The actual transaction amount for the year ended 31 December 2019

was HK$91,566,000.
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LMP and its subsidiaries is a group beneficially owned and controlled
by the family members of Mr. Lee Man Yan, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. The above transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company accordingly.

For further details of the above transactions, please refer to the joint
announcement of the Company and LMP dated 28 March 2018.

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive directors of the Company reviewed the continuing
connected transactions disclosed in this report and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iif) according to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's auditor was
engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter to the Company's directors
confirming nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed in
this report:

(i) have not been approved by the Company's board of directors;
(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, the transactions were not, in all material respects, in

accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; or

(iv) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need

to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected transactions”,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a
connected entity of a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review and outlook of the business of the Company and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman'’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis sections
respectively from pages 4 to 5 and pages 6 to 10 of this Annual Report.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The key risks and uncertainties facing the Company as required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong) are disclosed in Management Discussion and
Analysis pages 6 to 10 of this Annual Report.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group commits to environmental protection and adopts various
measures to ensure its duties of protecting the environment. The
Company has established HSE department, filled with well qualified
personnel, to continually follow-up on relevant environment-related laws
and provisions, and to ensure that all departments within the Company
comply these regulations without any violation. Particulars of the Group's
environmental policies and performance are set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 24 to 61 of this Annual Report.
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MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 309% of total turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were approximately 48% of the Group's total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 27% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2019
and as at the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers' liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman
Hong Kong, 5 March 2020
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M A% BA

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 194,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is those matters that, in our professional judgment, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this

matter.

Key audit matter

BREZEE
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REEZFER

RREZFRITHEREANTHNERALE R
REAMEAMBREANEERRA/EENS
H o BHEEHEAEATEREREAMBR
KEHABRBETREN - AT TEYHE
LRIREHEBOER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REFTMARERREZEE

Valuation of the intangible assets for technical knowhow and property, plant and equipment for
manufacturing a new chemical product (the “Project”)

MEGEFE T Em ([TRE )RR YF - BER R ER WA #8915 1E

We identified the valuation of the intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment for the Project as a key
audit matter due to significant estimation uncertainty
involved in the determination of the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit (“CGU") and the significance
of the carrying amounts of the CGU to the consolidated
financial statements.
AITHEBY BEEEHEENETLEERYE  BE
R BENAERSEREZZE  RESKHE
TReEASBM([REEEEM])NATKRE & EEF
EEXRGEIHEEN  MReEEEUKREES S
BYBBRRNERIE -

As detailed in notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, for the purpose of the impairment
assessment, the carrying amounts of intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment amounted to
HK$94,532,000 and HK$141,268,000, respectively, as
at 31 December 2019.

ARG B ImRMI T4 R1OPTIREE - BUREREm S
R2019F12A318 - BEEERYE - BFELREDN
AREIE S 71 594,532,000/ 7T 52 141,268,000/8 7T

The management of the Group performed impairment
assessment and concluded that no impairment loss was
recognised for the CGU. This impairment assessment
was based on a value in use calculation that required
significant estimation with respect to the underlying cash
flows and discount rate.
EEEERERRELBLOETREN G - LR
EEAEDREESR  ZRENHEREREES
B FEURBARREMNAIRTETEKRMET -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment relating to
the Project included:

ROTRBAZBEERYE - BERREBIEELRENEZ
BFeRE
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Understanding the Group's impairment assessment
process, including the valuation model adopted and key
assumptions made by the management;
B BEEBEZRENEREF - 21
RERN RArER 2z BRERR

EREAHAZ

Evaluating the appropriateness of the model used to
calculate the recoverable amount;

AHERARFTERRE B2 B2 /@M

Evaluating the reasonableness of the discount rate,
terminal growth rate, budgeted sales, budgeted costs and
gross margin of the CGU by considering the historical
results of the CGU, the approved financial budgets and the
available industry and market data;
FRERMCELBEMBERE K ELVMBRE
AR AIBITE TSR - AR eELBUMESL
ZHIE  OKABRE BEEE BEHENEIRE
MEZ BN

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the financial budgets
prepared by management by comparing the historical
financial budgets with the actual performance and
understanding the causes for any significant variances; and
FRLEBBANBRERERKE - YEREMERE
BEFXZRA  FHMEBEEEEMGR MBRECES
R R

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the value in use
calculation.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

«  Condlude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concem.

83

Annual Report 2019 F i

EBAHERGSMBERRREHRE

AITHER  EHSEAMBEHRRERBES T
FHEHNRIFRBRMEMNBAHRR A
REAERE  YHABEAITERNEH
¥R - ARB W E I B IETERERBRR
WEMEMIEELMAE - KITHARA RS
AR - HEMEMALAZEAETRE
% AERERRKFEHNRE - BTERE
BREBETEAETHET  EX-BX
A RR PR LT AL RS A BE 2 3R © SRR AT LAY
WP R - IMRESEFEHTMEEK
[E B ER A BER IR A M B RERERERE
MRS IMA L G ERTE - RIBREREE R
BRI AR AEEE K

ERBEEAREAETEZNBES - K
TTERTEHEXHEBARRETEXRRELE -
AT

© BRIMFHEARNRFFRERMEYEE
M HmRFEERBRRANER - &
SERITEEFAREELRR - XA
LREBRARNBEENEZRE R
BPEROER - ARREFA Y &S
BRARERE £ Bt REZEHREK
FEMB MM ERHEREENRERSRA
BEE IR A #R AR T B B B K #H AR Bt A9
[

© THREFRZHEMNARERE - RS
BOEEF  BENYIY HEE
NERE I BRI ERER -

« FHMEEEMERAEERENREERE
hERHER MR R BN S I -

- HEERARELESERNRENT
Eh#Em - REBFAERNEZERRE
BEEEAFERFAXNBERABEENE
ARTEEM - EMAEEHY B5H
B ERE NELERREE - MRX
TRRFEERTEEE  IAVER
RHMBETIRFEEAELIRFEEMH
WARTERERKE - HARKETRE
AIRTTREHRLGFEREER - X176
EwmeE RN ZEE RS B LAABSHE
TZRFE - AT - RERFHEKIBRAESE
¥ BERETERELE -



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M A% BA

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Chiu Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

5 March 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12A31HIEFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Research and development cost
Finance costs

Net exchange loss

Share of profit of a joint venture
Share of (loss) profit of associates

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive expense
Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation
Share of other comprehensive expense of
a joint venture and associates

Other comprehensive expense for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
Basic (HK cents)
Diluted (HK cents)
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2019
Notes HK$'000
Kt FHET

586 3,476,571
(2,090,457)

1,386,114
7 119,402
8 (a08)
(214,988)
(213,088)
(138,538)
10 (77,755)
(9,938)
172
(58)

850,915
9 (150,144)

10 700,771

(88,567)
(838)
(89,405)

611,366

700,771

700,771

611,366

611,366

11
84.9
84.9

2018
HK$'000
TAT

3,876,777
(2,061,551)

1,815,226
75,921
9,974
(231,445)
(225,873)
(158,005)
(93,530)
(35,445)
14
9%

1,156,933
(284,558)

872,375

(153,140)
(792)
(153,932)
718,443
872,641
(266)

872,375

719,044
(601)

718,443

105.8
104.3



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EX{t THRA A

At 31 December 2019 #2019 12H31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deposits paid for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Interests in joint ventures

Interests in associates

Loan to a joint venture

Deferred tax assets

Goodwill

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Properties under development for sale
Prepaid lease payments

Trade and other receivables

Bills receivable

Amount due from a joint venture
Amount due from an associate
Amounts due from related companies
Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Bills payable

Contract liabilities

Amount due to a related company
Taxation payable

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings — due within 1 year

NET CURRENT ASSETS
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TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERAREBAS

86

Notes
Kzt

15
16
17
18

20
21
22

23

24
25

16
26

22
22
27
28

29

30
27

31
32

2019
HK$'000
FTExT

4,083,068
142,998
95,405

76,644
16,462
19,619
97,755
22,335

2,622

4,556,908

550,384
263,163
290,527
156,105
14,120
1,199
16,138
246,404

1,538,040

366,898
131,763
55,157
15,307
85,677
1,850
587,538

1,244,190

293,850

4,850,758

2018
HK$'000
TAT

3,847,762
143,511

100,618

67,958
16,665
18,552
97,755
23,233

2,682

4,318,736

585,919
145,842
4,259
266,143
113,020
14,946
526
12,115
593,074

1,735,844

377,799
84,377
50,690

757

100,845

926,519

1,540,987

194,857

4,513,593



NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERS

Other payables JEAT EAth RIR
Contract liabilities BHAE

Deferred tax liabilities FIERIARE

Bank borrowings — due after 1 year RITER— 15F1&5IH
NET ASSETS EEFE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARR #E

Share capital [N

Reserves b

TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 194 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 March
2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wai Siu Kee
LB
CHAIRMAN
*E
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2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FTET TAET
29 40,747 47,659
30 9,877 -
9 38,697 39,576
32 910,914 947,693

1,000,235 1,034,928

3,850,523 3,478,665

33 82,500 82,500
3,768,023 3,396,165

3,850,523 3,478,665

FSHEFIM4EFEZHGAPBRERER
20203 ASAKEESS BB LEET WA
THEERKREE :

Lee Man Yan
=3
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AAFEARGES
Non- Safety Share Non-
Share Share  distributable fund Translation ~ options Special Other  Accumulated Sub-  controlling
capital ~ premium reserve  fesee  reserve feseve  reserve reserve profits Total  interests Total
A7 3
Bx  RGEE  AREE  ESRE  EXRR  BRERE  REBR  HMRE  ZHEA & FERER  EEEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bfr  AMTn AMTn AT AfTr BMTn BETRn BB Mt T BT BETr
(natei) (note i) (note i) (note i)
W) (i) W) (i)
A1 lnuay 2018 RsEIR1R Q50 0307 416140 W5 R 1533 (9736) - 2610991 30BIB 1061 309443
Other comprehensive expense for the year FHEBRERL = = = - (153597) = = = - (153597) (335) (1393
Proft los) forthe year Eighl(EE) - - - - - - - - e e (66) 872375
Totel comprehensive (expense) income for heyear  ERZA (it k@ = = = - (153597) = = - Bmed T90M (60) 718443
Cash didends recognized as distrbution BERIRERENR = - - - - - - - (354T0)  (3B4750) - (334750)
Transfer to non-istibutable resenve E\MIATEE - - 115474 - - - - - (115474) - - -
Trangfr from safety fund resene BLR2E0RR = - - (129) - - - - 1242 - - -
Recogntion of equitysetfled share based payments  EsZNRIEE 213 - - - - - 30,684 - - - 30,684 - 30684
Changes n ownershp inerests n subsicares BTz EMER
without change of contol (note ) (k) - - - - - - - (686) - (685)  (11460)  (12,140)
At31 December 2018 20185128318 82,500 20307 531,614 1213 (121,568) 41997 (97362) (686) 3014650 3478665 - 3478665
Transfionel acjustmen on iitel adoption ERRRERNRREE
of HKFRS 16 EEA Lk o e - - = = = - - - 58 58 - 5
At 1 January 2019 0191818
(es adusted) (858) QN0 030 5Iel 23 (%8 4% (9736) (B%) 3014708 3478705 -3
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMREZE - - - - (89405) - - - - (89409) - (89409)
Profit for the year R = = - - - - - - 700771 700771 - 700771
Tote comprehensive (expense) income for he year 2T (i) 88 - - - - (89405) - - - T007T1 611366 - Bl
Cash dividends recognized as disrbution BERRERENR = = - - - - - -0 @) - (0
Transferto non-distibutable resenve E\FTRRER - - 82598 - - - - - (825%) - - -
Trangfer from safety fund resene %ﬁgﬁﬁﬁ - - - (1213) - - - - 1213 - - -
Recogniion of equtysetfled share based payments B2 RIER 2 - - - - - 32684 - - - 32,684 - 30684
At 31 December 2019 20195128318 82,500 20307 614212 = (210973) 80,681 (97362) (686) 3361844 3850523 3850523
Notes: Bt

.

According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), wholly
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profits after taxation, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a dividend to equity
owners. The non-distributable reserve can be used to offset the previous years' losses,
if any. The non-distributable reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value
of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share capital
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in December 2001.

Pursuant to the relevant regulation in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Company are
required to provide for safety reserve based on revenue.

In November 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 30% equity interests in a
subsidiary from its non-controlling shareholder at a consideration of RMB10,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,146,000). The difference between the carrying
amount of the net assets acquired and the fair value of the consideration has been
recognised directly to equity as “other reserve”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12A31HIEFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Finance costs

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on termination of lease arrangements

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net gain from fair value changes of

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Interest income

Share-based payment expense
Share of (profit) loss of associates
Share of profit of a joint venture

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Decrease in inventories

Increase in properties under development for sale

Increase in trade and other receivables
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from
related companies
(Increase) decrease in bills receivable
Decrease in trade and other payables
Increase in bills payable
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities
Increase in amounts due to
related companies

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

T
BRI
-

ME  BELRRBZITE

EREEENE
BE KA

TR EFIE 2
B AR 2
RIFRERBHER

BREME - BFERREREX
BRAVEMABRGEZEHEE

ATEED 2 Pl
FBMA
RS 1 OB

FEEB R DX CER]) B8

FEIERE R EN

B AR AR I N
FEULE 5 I ELAth BRI A1
FEULREE R B FIR
(350) B
FEURZRIR (35 00) Rk
ERTE 5 REAM IR
S R IE AN
BB ERMCHED)
e RRB AR FIA
)i

REXGHRERS
ENFENE

REXBREREFE
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2019
HK$'000
FTExT

850,915

42,318
4,395
717,755
39

152
3,998

(3,742)
(4,890)
32,684
58
(172)

1,003,510
330,708
(117,321)

(24,384)

(4,023)
(43,085)
(45,883)

47,386

14,344

14,550

1,175,802
(165,632)

1,010,170

2018
HK$'000
TAT

1,156,933

36,237
93,530
3,485
3,598

4311

(14,285)
(7,055)
32,684
(96)
14)

1,309,328
150,802
(56,544)
(38,657)

3616

171,742
(5,771)

84,377
(37,434)

757

1,582,216
(220,109)

1,362,107
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of/capital injection into
interests in an associate

Advance to an associate

Repayment from joint ventures

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Net proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Purchase of intangible assets

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank borrowings raised
Repayment of bank borrowings
Repayment of lease liabilities
Dividends paid

Interest paid

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR, represented by
bank balances and cash

2019
HK$'000
FET
REEK
BEWE  WERREE (425,661)
BEME BELREZ
=ENEK (221,522)
M —FEEE & A B, R E
—HEE AR (1,588)
NI = F N -
BREDEZEN -
HEME - BEREE
FR{S 508 842
AL EIRSN 4,890
PERAFEFTABRZ
PREEMSRIEFRE 3,742
BEEVEE -
REXKFTAREFE (639,297)
RhE K
BERITER 979,457
EEIRITER (1,345,479)
BEEMEERME (3,195)
BERRE (272,250)
EATHLE (77,755)
MEXKFAREFHE
(719,222)
RERAESZEYORD)E M
(348,349)
FUZREeRELZEEY
593,074
EREE s HE
1,679
FERZHAESRELEEY -
ERITHBRRS
246,404
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2018
HK$'000
FATT
(281,046)
(243,088)
(17,292)
(526)

378

1,191
7,055

14,285
(201)

(519,244)

526,040
(779,211)

(354,750)
(93,823)

(701,744)

141,119

467,506

(15,551)

593,074
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #E2019F12A31HIEFE

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office of the Company is disclosed in the section
"Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB"), while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK dollars”) as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

—REH

ARARERASHERREKER)E
NERHASHEEMR LA —KLETAE
RAF ERONEBBBARZMAR
RA) (BT ]) BT - ANRAEM =
BRIFNFH AR ER P HE -

ARBNINEEERARE - HRAR
BIRMEB R LT - BERA M ®RER
TIAETTZ5

ARB/—HAREERRT - A EH
BABZ EEXHENMTEAL2 -

FERAHITRESITEEMGHEERD
(TERMBHEER])

RAEFERBERBOHMITREETER
PR Al

AEERAEEEREANTHEES
A AE([BASEMAE )\
7] MEHERT BB SR E LR

RN BREER HE

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

e B ERAR T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the
related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were
not previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group
has not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date
of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related
lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) at transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained profits and comparative information has not been
restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical expedients
to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17,
on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective
lease contracts:

«  elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the date
of initial application;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FEAHITREETEFEMEHREED

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") ([HFEMEHRESEER]) (&)
(CONTINUED)
As a lessee (Continued) ERAHBAGE)
+  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use - RYBEABHGECREEER
assets at the date of initial application; R #08 EHERCAN
«  applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a - SRR HIMRMT 2 U BIRIER
similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets BUAMBEEEENEERASER
in similar economic environment. Specifically, discount rate for B-—RE - LHZE pEFTLR
certain leases of properties in the People’s Republic of China mEARKMBE([HE]2WER
(the "PRC") was determined on a portfolio basis. EFRENREEEEETF -
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified EMBAESBAKERN 7 HEMRRME
as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing EEEN  AEEEAEREEEERN
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. UItAFER B2 (A E R - fERA 2&
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied is AN S B E X A4.75% ©
4.75%.
1 January
2019
20194
1A18
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at M20185F 12 A31 AR 2
31 December 2018 RETHA AR 7,757
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental 7201941 A1 B iR AR # # (£ 7K
borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019 MEFHFZHERE 7,469
Less: Ve
Recognition exemption — short term leases HREHE —EHHEE (1,151)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R2019F 1 A1AZHEAR 6,318
Analysed as: G-
Current ME 3,439
Non-current SEMRE 2,879
6,318
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(CONTINUED)

As a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019

comprises the following:

AT RIESITEE MG HEER
(TEFRMBEEEN]) (&)
EREBAE)

R2019F 1 A1 RFAEEECREER
ST

Right-of-use

assets
EREEE
HK$°000
FET

Right-of use assets relating to operating leases BRAEEM G HmEERF 1655 R
recognised upon application of HKFRS16 KRB BEEREEE 6,376
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments (note) — #tTENTEFIBEHH A (Hit) 147,770
154,146

By class: BRI

Leasehold land HE L 147,770
Buildings EF 6,376
154,146

note: Upfront payments for leasehold land in the PRC were classified as prepaid lease

payments as at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current
and non-current portion of prepaid lease payments amounting to HK$4,259,000
and HK$143,511,000 respectively were reclassified to right-of-use assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and
comparative information has not been restated.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS
16 on accumulated profits at 1 January 2019.

Annual Report 2019 F i

AT RIEESITEE M5 HEER
(TEFRMBEEEN]) (&)

EREHBEA

HRE AV HHRE LR 1657 B K K
X AEEHARAKEESEEAZ
MEBBFL AR  EARBERYIA
FER B EIIRRB B WS mME LRI 1657
AR - F B F W E|ET -

ATBUBEEF BB REELE 16
HE T NF— A BOHREN

B 48R
TR o

Impact of
adopting
HKFRS 16

At 1 January
2019
R=ZF—-h%F
—RA—B&A
ERMBRE
ZERISE165%
(2
HK$'000
FET

Accumulated profits Enpingil
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FERA#HITRESTEEMBEREEA
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") ([HFEMIEHEEER]) (&)
(CONTINUED)
As a lessor (Continued) fEREBEAGE)
The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in AT AYHR2019F1 818 2548 Bk
the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January 2019. MEPERCCEIEL AR - BEX
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been BB 2 EE W ABEEA -
included.
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 December at 1 January
2018  Adjustments 2019
BIEEE
T BigmE
FA20184F ZRIE1655%
12A31H 20195
2H 1A1HH
REE A IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHETT THET
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Prepaid lease payments B EERE 143,511 (143,511) -
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 154,146 154,146
Current Assets RBEE
Prepaid lease payments TR ERIE 4,259 (4,259) -
Current Liabilities REAE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 3,439 3,439
Non-current Liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEERE - 2,879 2,879
Capital and Reserves BEXRRE
Reserves & 3,396,165 58 3,396,223

note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under indirect

method for the year ended 31 December 2019, movements in working capital

have been computed based on opening consolidated statement of financial

position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture3
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material4
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform#
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

«  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

«  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

«  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

«  has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

«  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

« liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

«  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

«  lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition date. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as
the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If recoverable amount of the unit
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit
within group of cash-generating units in which the Group monitors
goodwill).

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and joint ventures is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the joint arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity method purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates or joint ventures. Changes in net assets of the associates
or joint ventures other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of associates or joint ventures exceeds the Group's
interests in that associates or joint ventures (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investments in associates or joint ventures), the Group discontinues
from recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of associates
or joint ventures.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

Investments in associates or joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investees becomes
associates or joint ventures. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any assets, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interests in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interests if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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Interest in a joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint operators) have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance with the
HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a
group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction
with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses
resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a
group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets), the
Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it
resells those assets to a third party.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle

of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
y= A

e M IE AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

«  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

«  the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

«  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception or
modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. The Group also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
«  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

« any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

«  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term is depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of inventory is presented within “properties
under development for sale”.
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The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

«  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

« variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the

commencement date;

«  amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

« the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

«  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

« the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

«  the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

«  the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

«  the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring/and held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight
line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such
costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Lease modification
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering

any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of the monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates/joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operation are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group's
net assets in RMB to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. HK
dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit
or loss subsequently.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowings that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income/a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
reasonably certain to become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and national
statutory social security insurance scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as

wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to a director

Equity-settled share-based payments to a director are measured at
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity under the heading of “share options reserve”. At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax base
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such defined assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and interests
in joint ventures and associates, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

116

EERHRE ()
BUE(%)

EEHIRTIBLAR A IS IR AR & B
B ERMEREGTHEREOEH AT ERA
MEFEARNERIEZEER - BTHR
HAEE-RUMARERREREERT
PARERR - MR IEEERIR A sEE A
JEER B0 )48 FI| LAHE 3K RIS AR A B S 1 2 58
TR - AT HER BRI E
ERDBOG N M THERHE MR 5K
ﬁﬁiﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁL EETREE
CAEREERABET TR

EXEFBAEIRMBARRKRERG S
m%ﬂ% B3 2 W55 P EE A B B ER T
RrEZRRRERR - MM A E TS
Hvr MERNBRALREREZREKS
AR R RELERID - EHZERE
NSz TR ERERAEEZ
RIERIAE E RN P BB B A ERTUS
FIRTAGE A E R Z8 2 sz BFRET AT

5 SR AT LA Bl RS T AR o

AL BE 2 AR (BT 5 305 H K
ETRE  ERTAT BB 2 SR
Bk b 21 2 392 35 A RS F b
o

BEERARBERRNEEAEAEREE
MEBEARANRE - DREHREE

MREE LEERZRER(RBR) BE
HEEHE o

Rl F+

LR AR BENREERT JiH}*iT$
%Iﬁiﬁiﬂ;ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁﬂ;ﬁ%ﬂﬁl@‘ﬂa EH
QF&ELZEEETEE’JETF)’TFEE’JTR
BER



Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of investment properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production of goods or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties, plant and machinery in the course of construction for
production or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before
application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16,
properties under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties
for sale upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date/settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income are presented as other income.
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

«  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

«  the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

«  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit and loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
("OClI") if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

« it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

« on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

« itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Receivables measured as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for receivables
measured as at FVTOCI as a result of interest income
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these receivables. The amounts that
are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts
that would have been recognised in profit or loss if these
receivables had been measured at amortised cost. When
these receivables are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the heading of
“other gains and losses".

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on lease receivables and financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, loan to a joint venture,
amounts due from a joint venture/an associate/related companies
and bank balances and cash) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
bills receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

«  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

+  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations;

126

EFEERBR(E)
SRMIAE)
EREE(E)
EHEEREE)

AEERE S RURRA R BB ERER
EREGTAREEER - ZFEELRE
,HMZTEEE?EEﬁékﬂguﬁlﬁﬁmn\uﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AHE SR AR E E AR e — B AR
fE SR BB TS -

MAEEMTAMS @ AEEFERSE
R1I2BAZEREEERZBIREE

B 3F B )2 AR (5 B L 3R AR IR
e AIREERBRGEREEER -
AfhREEARFRBEEBERDER
B HERARE EEZNORR AT
RIBIE AN ©

() EERRZEZR

EFEBNTSEAAREERRZ
BERZEINE - AREE RS A H
TR T AAE 2 E R RS
REHzEMTAREZEORR
EITHCE - FE(EH L IRFT AR - &
SEEEAERAXBZIEERE
HER  BREAEERLEFEER
XA N Z ATREIEE R -

tﬁi&%fﬁ@fﬁ B B BRI N
BEEE NIER :

© BT EZINE(IE)HKAER
EEFRCERRFAERBRER
1t

- EERBRINITSEEZBEE
Eib - mEEMNZE - BREER
ZEEENEBER KR L
H

- TEEEREBABERERE
RIBTERZ RS - BHEHEH
G 2 RARFAR T EE)



Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

« an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

FESHBEZE)
SWMIEAE)

EHEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial re-organisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised directly in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, the loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For lease receivables, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL are consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivables in accordance with HKFRS 16
(since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

«  Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
and other receivables and amounts due from customers
are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related
parties are assessed for ECL on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

»  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee period.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For undrawn loan commitments, the loss allowances are the
present value of the difference between:

(a) the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if
the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan:
and

(b) the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the
loan is drawn down.

Except for bills receivable that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account. For bills receivable,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount of these
receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of bills receivable, the cumulative gain or loss

previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is
designated as at FVTPL.
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Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERER (&)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

« it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing

it in the near term; or

B FlEF ARz HR E(E)

ERETIBR—  WBREKREA
REERE -

« on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified .
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

« itis a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial .
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging

instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
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such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded

derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract
to be designated as at FVTPL.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in OCl, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in OCl would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit
risk that are recognised in OCl are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payable,
amounts due to a related company and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in profit or
loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Recoverable amount of the intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment for manufacturing a new chemical
product (the “Project”)

Determining whether intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment under the Project are impaired requires an estimation of
recoverable amount of the CGU to which these assets have been
allocated, which is based on the value in use of that CGU. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The key assumptions used for
the discounted cash flow projections include discount rate, terminal
growth rate, budgeted sales, budgeted costs and gross margin of
the CGU. The discount rate applied was determined by using the
weighted average cost of capital plus specific risk premium and
the growth rate applied was determined based on the expected
long-term inflation in, while other key assumptions relating to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows were determined by taking
into account the financial budgets approved by the directors of
the Company, past performance of the CGU and management
expectation on the market development.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recoverable amount of the intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment for manufacturing a new chemical
product (the “Project”) (Continued)

Further details are set out in Note 19. Where the actual cash
flows are less than expected or there are changes in facts and
circumstances which result in downward revision of future cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying amounts of intangible assets for technical
knowhow and property, plant and equipment relating to the
Project are approximately HK$94,532,000 and HK$141,268,000,
respectively.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade receivables with significant balances
and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are
disclosed in note 26 and 44, respectively.

Useful lives of intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives for its intangible
assets with reference to the estimated periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. Management will revise the amortisation charge where useful
lives are materially different from those previously estimated. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in the period over which the related
costs are amortised and therefore amortisation expenses in the
future periods.
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All the Group's revenue for the year is derived from manufacture
and sale of chemical products.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

(i)

Types of goods or service EmEREESR

Manufacture and sale of chemical products SEMEE(C TEM
Caustic soda B
Chloromethane products Fraty
Polymers =9 FIE
Hydrogen peroxide HEEk )
Fluorochemical products BLIEMR
Styrene acrylic latex surface sizing agent RAFEBE
Others Hith

Total A&t

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
revenue is recognised from the sale of properties.

All of the Group's revenue is recognised at a point in time and
derived from the PRC.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Manufacture and sale of chemical products with product
delivery services

The Group manufactures and sells chemical products directly
to customers. Revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the customer's specified location (delivery). The
normal credit term is 7 to 60 days upon delivery.

137

Annual Report 2019 F i

AEBEFAMERALIRESEMIEE

fETEmM-°
(i) MADE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
1,395,256 1,684,170
993,162 949,344
421,070 477,405
264,796 334,085
121,792 196,247
44,136 68,123
236,359 167,403
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

(i)

(iif)

(@)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Sale of properties

For contracts entered into with customers for sale of
properties, the Group's performance does not create an asset
with alternative use to the Group. Taking into consideration of
the relevant contract terms, the legal environment and relevant
legal precedent, the management has concluded that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment prior to
transfer of the relevant properties to the customers. Revenue
from sale of properties is therefore recognised at a point in
time when the completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains the control of
the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives certain percentage of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreements with the remainder within 90 days from the date
of agreements. However, depending on market conditions,
the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the
listed sales price, provided that the customers agree to pay
the balance of the consideration early while construction is still
ongoing. The deposits and advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period until the customer obtains control of the
completed property.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

For manufacture and sale of chemical products with product
delivery services, the performance obligation is expected to be
completed within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

For sales of properties, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at 31 December 2019
was HK$9,877,000 (2018: nil) and expected to recognise
revenue in 2021.

Operating segments

HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on
the basis of internal reports about components of the Group
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM"), being the Chairman of the Company, in
order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance. The CODM reviews the Group's profit as a
whole, which is generated solely from the manufacture and
sale of chemical products and determined in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies, for performance assessment.
Therefore no separate segment information is prepared by the
Group.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in the PRC. Most of the
non-current assets are located in the PRC. All the Group's
revenue from external customers is derived from the PRC for

both years.

(c) Information about major customers

No customer contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the

Group in both years.
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OTHER INCOME 7. HftlgA
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Bank interest income RITH B HA 4,368 6,567
Interest income from a joint venture BEREZMBWA 522 488
Government grants ISR 76,256 27,544
Scrap sales RE Ut A 1,776 7,266
Electricity and steam income B RERBA 27,296 29,537
Rental income ik ON 2,260 2,526
Others Hih 924 1,993
119,402 75,921
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HtEREIE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Net gain from changes in fair value BRAFEABRZEHEE
of financial assets at fair value through N EZE 2 FW R
profit or loss 3,742 14,285
Loss on disposal of property, BREME  BER
plant and equipment BEEEPS (3,998) (4311)
Loss on termination of lease arrangements HIERE PR (152) =
(408) 9,974
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9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE FRGMTH
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHIT
The charge comprises: XHEE
Current tax NEATRIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") AR B 7 TS AR 144,451 202,044
PRC withholding tax on dividend income B B ATEHH 14,348 90,869
Overprovision in prior years — EIT AR E Z 4R R Bl FR1S AR (9,044) (8,563)
Deferred tax RIERIE
Current year RNEFIFELERIE 389 208
150,144 284,558

The Group's major business is in the PRC. Under the Law of the
PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, Jiangsu Lee
& Man Chemical Limited (“Jiangsu L&M") and Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited (“Jiangxi L&M") are entitled to a favourable
EIT rate of 15% as they have been qualified as High and New
Technology Enterprise.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rate
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made for both years since
there are no assessable profits.
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before taxation R AD& A
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25%
(2018: 25%)
Tax effect of share of profit/loss of
joint ventures and an associate
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of income not taxable
in determining taxable profit
Effect of concessionary rate granted to

(2018 : 25%)
BB 2 IS &
TR E

WAZBHBHE

PRC subsidiaries A
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries HthaligEma iR s8R
operating in other jurisdictions -7
Overprovision in respect of prior year AR R %R
Withholding tax on dividend income A BHATEHNR
Income tax expense for the year FAMERZH

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group has accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$1,285,176,000 (2018:
HK$825,904,000). Deferred tax liabilities has been recognised
in respect of HK$555,560,000 (2018: HK$568,182,000) of
such accumulated profits. No deferred tax liabilities has been
recognized in respect of the remaining HK$729,616,000 (2018:
HK$257,722,000) of such accumulated profits as it is the intention
of the Directors of the Group to retain certain earnings within these
subsidiaries.
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FAVARAX GG BE LA MEEEK
SRFPIBRFATA LR T

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT TAT

850,915 1,156,933

FEhE L REMEE REEF
FETE FE AR B MBS T AT 4R

FETE FE R B A By B R FERR T

212,729 289,233
(28) (28)
26,494 122,070
(2.384) (3,006)
(96,107)  (216,850)
4,136 10,833
(9,044) (8,563)
14,348 90,869
150,144 284,558

RIERBESEMSRHE - B20084F 1
A1BR st E AR ARG
AT E IR A IR B TEIN R - RIRE
HX AEBEZHRBENBERRMNER
Sis A 5T F 1,285,176,000 7 7T (2018 :
825,904,000 7L ) - HE M ZF RET
% A 7 89 555,560,000 7% JT (2018 :
568,182,000/ 7T ) ERIEEF B A& -
HRAEBESEEETE TANRZ
EHBAR) WA ERZERTEF T
2 F #2619 729,616,000 7T (2018 :
257,722,000/ 70 ) IR IE A & o



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 9. MR (=)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for AT RIEERIAEREE DT
financial reporting purposes:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 22,335 23,233
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEA R (38,697) (39,576)
(16,362) (16,343)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) UTREIEBELEHBRE(BE)RFA
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior R FHRER R E
reporting period:
Deferred
income in
respect
of subsidy
received for
acquisition of
prepaid lease
payments/ Undistributable
Revaluation  right-of-use assets profits of
of investment BRBAHE the PRC
popetty  FB/FRELE subsidiaries
RENZ YRR 2 hEFREZ Total
LEff Biths ADENE CH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAL TAL AT
(note)
(Wit)
At 1 January 2018 120181418 11,699 (24,893) 30,116 16,922
Charged (credited) to profit or loss I GNES I - 554 (346) 208
Exchange realignment ERREL S (532 1,106 (1,361) (787)
At 31 December 2018 20184124318 11,167 (23,233) 28,409 16,343
Charged to profit or logs nhzER - 389 - 389
Exchange realignment B 5 AR (248) 509 (631) (370)
At 31 December 2019 120194128318 10919 (22335) 27,778 16,362
note: The investment property with carrying amount of HK$72,619,000 was Hiat - BRTE{E 72,619,000 7T 2 1% & ) % 2 1 LA AT
transferred to properties under development for sale during prior years. FEEAREFLENBRRTYE -
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2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FRENEHMERGEA) ¢
charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (note 13) BEEHFM(HE13) 50,695 52,489
Other staff costs: Hih 8 TR :
Salaries and other benefits e REAET
(excluding directors) (BEHRIN 252,305 233,034
Retirement benefit schemes RIRAERFT B LR
contributions (excluding directors) (BFRIN 14,419 15,286
Total staff costs B TRAMERR 317,419 300,809
Finance costs: AR
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERZFEZ T 77,533 93,823
Lease liabilities HERMF 222 -
Less: amounts capitalised to property, W R B RERE
plant and equipment (note) Btz 2B (M) - (293)
77,755 93,530
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT T
Auditors’ remuneration ZERTB & -
— Audit services — BT AR 1,850 1,573
— Non-audit services = 225 225
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses PR/ HNTFERA 2,090,457 2,061,551
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% -~ [R5 K& E 2 ITE 332,343 348,730
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEENE 6,530 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BT E R IE R - 3,485
Amortisation of intangible assets BB ER 3,052 3,598
Total depreciation and amortisation e MEHEAET 341,925 355,813
Capitalised in inventories EFtATEZSRE (295,173) (312,493)
46,752 43,320
note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain borrowing costs capitalised HiaF - BZ=2018F12A318 - FHEREEEER
arose from specific borrowings and were calculated by applying a capitalisation AEEEEREENRERTAEEANMUIGHRN

BEXHREFERNEEAT5%E -

rate of 4.75% per annum to expenditures on qualifying assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$700,771,000 (2018: HK$872,641,000) and 825,000,000
(2018: 825,000,000) shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after adjusting
for the potential dilutive effect caused by the share options granted
under the share option scheme.

11. SREF

BREANRBERF IZAAREE A
2 A% F 700,771,000 7 (2018 -
872,641,000 % 7t ) K 825,000,000 A%
(2018 : 825,000,0000% ) /5T & °

BREFRNAEIREBEARRRRE
e A B B 27T INHE 15 3 AR AR -
B RIRIE B ET 813 th O FE B P
R BERE Y BF O -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) RS ERBE (D #E)
2019 2018
‘000 Shares ‘000 Shares
TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st EEREARFIME 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share B N8 825,000 825,000
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the RIEARR R B E 2
Company's share option scheme WRIEREBITRMN ZZE - 11,071
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FiEtESREERFME 2
for the purpose of diluted eamings per share & iEB[% hiteE F 15 21 825,000 836,071

The computation of diluted earnings per share for 2019 did not
assume the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
adjusted exercise price of those share options was higher than the
average market price for shares in that year.
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Dividends recognised as distributions
during the year:

Final dividend of HK15 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Interim dividend of HK18 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Final dividend of HK20 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2017
Interim dividend of HK23 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2018

FREHANIR S

HZE2018%12A31HILFE
REARR B 1584

HZE2019%F12A31HILFE
FRERfR B 1 878

HZE2017%12A31BILFE
REARR B H2081L

HE2018F 128318 ILEE
AR ERRR BB AR23IL

Annual Report 2019 F 3

2019 2018
HK$°'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
123,750 =
148,500 =
- 165,000

- 189,750
272,250 354,750

A final dividend of HK15 cents (2018: HK15 cents) per share
amounting to HK$123,750,000 (2018: HK$123,750,000) in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 has been proposed
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' EMOLUMENTS 13. EERERTHRARTH
Directors' and chief executives' emoluments for the year, disclosed ZEENEETHABRAFEE ZHNR
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong BEA EMRAREE R TG H FE LN
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: T

Contributions Share-based

Salaries to retirement Discretionary performance

and other benefit bonus related

benefits schemes  payments incentive
Fees HER ERER BE ERRGH Total
ik HtbiRR BE [ REXN BUEEKR CEl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TR TER TER TER AR
(note) (note 34)
(i) (Hi34)

Year ended 31.12.2019 BE220196 12731 AL ERE

Executive directors HITEE

Ms. Wai Siu Kee Eomat 960 1,200 - 7,007 - 9,167

Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr. Lee")* ENBEE(FRE]) 1,200 1,14 - - 32,684 35,025

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIFERE - 950 12 - - 962

Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi (=Fire bt - 5,001 - - - 5,001

Independent non-executive directors BV F#2/7EE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP Fa ik BBSAT 4L 180 - - - - 180

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony IRREE 180 - - - - 180

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei il S 180 - - - - 180
2,700 8,292 12 7,007 32,684 50,695
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13. EERFETBRARTH(Z)

(CONTINUED)
Contributions Share-based
Salaries  toretirement  Discretionary  performance
and other benefit bonus related
benefits schemes payments incentive
Fees Hek RARER B ERRON Total
e HiREN  GEER REXN BNEERR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAL FAL TAL TAL TAT
(note) (note 35)
Wit)  (WiE35)
Year ended 31.12.2018 BE20185 12531 B LEE
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee BoERL 960 1,200 - 8724 - 10,884
Mr. Lee Man Yan (‘"Mr. Lee")* ENBRE(FRE 1,200 1,163 - - 32,684 35,047
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BiEELE - 994 25 - - 1019
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi BHAHR = 5,032 = = = 5,032
Independent non-executive directors BV &/ 7EE
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS P~ FE#EE BBSATHL 169 = = = = 169
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FRRES 169 - - - - 169
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei PR Sk 169 - - - - 169
2,667 8,389 25 8,724 32,684 52,489

+ Mr. Lee is also the chief executive officer of the Company

The executive directors’ and non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and for
their services as directors of the Company respectively.

Note:

Other performance related incentive payments were determined with regards to
individual performance. None of the directors waived any emoluments in both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mE RS ER AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14. HARESHFHAL
Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year, FA - AEBRAERRFMALTE - 35
three (2018: four) were directors of the Company, details of (2018 : 4%) RARRES » HMl &5
whose remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the BERMF1Z - p T 28 E=HWES
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2018: one) highest (2018 : 18) RIEAR R B EFHITHA
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the & o HEHFBOT ¢

Company are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Salaries and other benefits e REMmEF 2,323 1,254
Their remuneration fell within EHMR AT EE

the following bands:

2019 2018

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE A

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 HK$ 1,000,001 2HK$ 1,500,000 2 1
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and
buildings

and
leasehold

Furniture

improvements  fixtures and

15.

Annual Report 2019 F 3

Wx - BERERW

MELHE  equipment Motor  Plantand Construction
BEN KA %E vehicles  machinery in progress Total
BEMREE Rt RE  BERESE ERIE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
cost A
At 1 January 2018 ®2018F1A1R 537,438 34622 17,302 4459542 86,530 5,135,434
Exchange realignment L (28,566) (1937) (810) (203,165 (11,042)  (245520)
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE—-FFAF - - - - 23 23
Additions RE = 6,810 2,537 39,732 497710 546,789
Disposals B - (458) (1514) (10923) - (12,895)
Transfer a5 154 743 - 38,110 (39,007) =
At 31 December 2018 20185124318 509,026 39,780 17515 4323296 534214 5423831
Exchange realignment R R (11,420) (1,115) (429)  (137,163) (9487)  (159614)
Additions RE = 1738 1,984 98214 556,535 664,471
Disposals e - (685) (497) (19,651) = (20,833)
Transfer b 56,224 1,086 - 799,273 (856,583) =
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H 553,830 46,804 18573 5063969 224679 5907855
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2018 R2018%51A18 76,990 14,878 10,706 1207,107 - 1309681
Provided for the year RERE 24,146 6,035 1,884 316,665 - 348730
Exchange realignment A A (5,864) (914) (471) (67,700) - (74,949)
Elimination on disposal HE RS - (406) (1,247) (5,740) = (7,393)
At 31 Decerber 2018 #20184%12A318 95272 19,593 10872 1450332 - 1576069
Provided for the year RERE 23,170 5771 1,784 301,618 - 332,343
Exchange realignment L (2657) (614) (270) (64,091 - (67,632)
Elimination on disposal HE RS - (445) (444) (15,104) - (15,993)
At 31 December 2019 72019128318 115,785 24,305 11,942 1,672,755 = 1,824,787
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2019 72019124318 438,045 22,499 6,631 3,391,214 224,679 4,083,068
At31 December 2018 R2018%512A318 413,754 20,187 6645 2872964 534214 3847762
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15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings and 5% — 7.5%
leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 25%

Plant and machinery 5% — 20%

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's leasehold land and buildings
represent buildings on land use rights in the PRC and leasehold land
and building located in Hong Kong amounted to HK$432,568,000
and HK$5,477,000 (2018: HK$407,852,000 and HK$5,902,000)
respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the buildings include an amount of
HK$14,144,000 (2018: HK$15,430,000) shared from a joint
operation as set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land in the
PRC.

15.

16.

W% BEREMEZ)

Lt - BERREEB IARRE
BT ERITE -

HETHRIEFR 5% — 7.5%
HEWHEEE

BRI - B REE 20%

RE 25%

BB M ikas 5% — 20%

AREBHHEET M EEFRRAR L
HERELNEF URBEENHEE
+ 3 R4 F 5 Bl A432,568,000%8 7T &
5,477,000 7T (2018 : 407,852,000
7T 125,902,000/ 7T ) °

R2019F 12 A31H ' BEFZ2HREEH
BRETEEEBPENZ14,144,000%
7£(2018 : 15,430,000 7T ) » SN
RE SRR FESS -

AHARE

AEBZENBEERBEREPEEANLZ
hEEE M -

2018
HK$'000
FHET

Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITE2|MAT
Non-current asset JEMBENEE 143,511
Current asset mENE E 4,259
147,770

Note: As at 31 December 2018, government grants in respect of acquisition of prepaid
lease payments with an aggregate amount of HK$84,482,000 was deducted
from the carrying amount of prepaid lease payments.

As at 31 December 2018, the prepaid lease payments include an

amount of HK$2,310,000 shared from a joint operation as set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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A2019F181H
SREE

At 1 January 2019
Carrying amount

7A2019F12A31H
BREE

At 31 December 2019

Carrying amount

For the year ended BZ2019F12A31HLLEE
31 December 2019

Charged for the year EENE

BEREREBRBRE
ZERF 165 2 A28 A
WA IERIRE EATE & M HAh,
BERHEEHRFNEERN
HEER

Expense relating to short-term leases
and other leases with lease terms
end within 12 months of the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16

Total cash outflow for leases HER SN ARE

For both years, the Group leases buildings for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.

As at 31 December 2019, the right-of-use assets include an
amount of HK$2,206,000 shared from a joint operation as set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,850,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$1,766,000 as at 31 December
2019. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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Leasehold
land Buildings Total
HELH By CHI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHT FHET
147,770 6,376 154,146
141,232 1,766 142,998
3,332 3,198 6,530
1,151
4,568

RAEFE  AEEHHEEBFULE
HER - MEARMEEBRA3F - H
ERFERREBEEFNBRGEHEER - H
hEE &R RGNS - ARE
FEE TE A B AR AR 44 R HEE B0 HIRR
- BRA AR ERILHEE S [ A 58 5l
TR -

AEECRSMEEE L r LR

TERE o

R2019F 128310 FRAEEEZ
FHSHEBEETAEEBDPREMAZ
2,206,000/ 7T * FHIEENERE M HE
Mi5E34 o

& RO PR I A0 225

AN - R2019F 12 A31H  HE A
f&1,850,00078 T A E B A& =
1,766,000/ TT4C B FER © HE R D
AARFANHEEEEREIFERINT
HINEMRRE - BEEETSHERE
R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EELEE
Technical
knowhow Software Total
5 9l7 AN s B4 a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
COST 2%
At 1 January 2018 201851 H1H 119,721 - 119,721
Additions NE - 201 201
Exchange realignment bE H % (5,442) 9) (5,451)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H 114,279 192 114,471
Exchange realignment b X (2,540) ) (2,544)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 111,739 188 111,927
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1H1H 10,888 = 10,888
Provided for the year IR E G 3,565 33 3,598
Exchange realignment HE 5, B (632) m (633)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F12H31H 13,821 32 13,853
Provided for the year IR F G 3014 38 3,052
Exchange realignment HE 5, R (381) 2 (383)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 16,454 68 16,522
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 95,285 120 95,405
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H 100,458 160 100,618

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following

periods:

Technical knowhow
Software

10 to 39 years

5 years
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19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the purposes of impairment testing, certain intangible assets
set out in note 18 and property, plant and equipment in note 15
have been allocated to the Project, which is an individual CGU.
As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of intangible
assets for technical knowhow and property, plant and equipment
relating to the project are approximately HK$94,532,000 and
HK$141,268,000.

No impairment for the intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment has been recognised as at 31 December 2019.

The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGU and the
major underlying assumptions are summarised below.

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on its
value in use, and assessed by the management of the Group based
on valuation performed by the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by the
Directors, and pre-tax discount rate of 10.7% that is determined by
the weighted average cost of capital plus specific risk premium for
new projects, which is within level 3 fair value hierarchy. The cash
flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using a terminal
growth rate of 3% per annum. This growth rate is determined
based on the expected long-term inflation in the PRC. Other key
assumptions relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales, budgeted cost and gross margin generated
from the CGU, is determined based on the past performance of the
CGU and management's expectations on the market development.
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19. MELBERME - BER®R M ZHE

A

RERARETE - M 18mE 2 E T
EREENRNFEISHHAT 2B TY
¥ BEEAREBEHSREZESR - H
AEREESEAESBNMN - K2019F 12 A
310 - HIBE AN REMAENELE
EXME  BEESKEREEDS OB
94,532,000/8 7T X 141,268,000/ 7T ©

MR2019F 128318 @ EEEEULY
¥ BEIKEETEHRRE -

PR eELBURAKONSREEER
R R T

ZHeELBEN 2 JRE S EIZRE
FREBEHEET - stEEANUESMH
Eﬁﬁ“?ﬁi BIEEZR M= TR B

ANEEREE-LGBERNBAIITR
? 10.7% = FHBIINZ B SR E TR
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. SELRZHERD
2019 2018
HK$000 HK$'000
BT FHET

Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 3 A &M 2 IWER K 24,177 24,177

Exchange realignment b 5 SR B (2,105) (1,730)

Share of loss and other comprehensive expense FEAfE518 & H Ath 2 5% H (5,610) (5,782)

16,462 16,665
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the HEREHAR  *EERBHaERE
reporting period are as follows: BEFBEESIAT
Proportion of
Place of Class of ownership
Form of establishment/ shares interest held Principal
Name of entity entity ventures incorporation held by the Group activity
AEE
BEhE FERE BESENEROR
BEREH BRZER BRIt B kEit) HRERLLH TEXK
2019 2018
BARABERARAA Limited incorporated ~ PRC Registered 40% 40%  Provision of port
BRARKL H capital facilities
Eallig=eN RSO

Southern Hill Company Limited incorporated ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 50% 50%  Investment holding
Limited BRARMKL S EER REER

HIEFRAT

Wholly owned subsidiary of
Southern Hill Company Limited:

HEEEHB L A]

Ruichang Lee & Man Logistics  Limited incorporated ~ PRC Registered 50% 50%  Provision of port
Company Limited BRARIKL i capital facilities
("Ruichang L&M") AMEXR REE DR

mEBRXYRARLRF
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. SELEZER(Z)
The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the B BT AR AT AGRE WIS -
consolidated financial statements.
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the EAASBSREKRESELELHFE
Group's joint ventures are set out below. The summarised financial B SRR o LI BERRKREE
information below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures' TEBBHRER . SBEREBTHER
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. el o
BERARBEEFRAR ERRBEEXERAR
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Current assets mENEE 12,112 8,358
Non-current assets ERBNEE 59,409 64,605
Current liabilities mEEE (30,366) (31,300)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: N EEERBESHEBIENT :
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEZEED 11,669 797
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade REBVBEE(TREERNES R
and other payables and provisions) H fth kI8 ) (27,778) (28,409)
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Revenue WA 11,257 10,942
Profit for the year F A A 430 36
Other comprehensive expense FREMEPEX T
for the year (938) (1,986)
Total comprehensive expense FAREE I
for the year (508) (1,950)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. SELEZER(E)
BERRBEXER L E (Continued) ERARBEERRLG(E)
The above profit for the year includes the following: FERRENEIEAT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Depreciation e (4,068) (4,530)
Interest income FEUWA 220 140
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to NEBRAEAREBEXEBRAF
the carrying amount of the interest in EAREEX AR QA FRE € BB E R AR E B HE
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: Z R -
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Net assets of HRARBEXEFRAF] EARBERERARIFEE 41,155 41,663
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in - ZN&E @A EA A B
BARBEXEARAA BIRARIEAREZ B 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REERENEARBEE
BARBEXRARAA BRARIZEESHE 16,462 16,665
Southern Hill Company Limited and its subsidiary HEERATRRENE AT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Current assets MENEE 6,036 6,297
Non-current assets FEMENEE 222,111 224,926
Current liabilities mEaE (253,137) (247,249)
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Southern Hill Company Limited and its subsidiary (Continued)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

Annual Report 2019 F i

I

EdRzHm(E)

I

REERARREKEAR (&)

NEBRENBBESEBEAT :

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 1,032 1,492
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade nBREEETREENES R
and other payables and provisions) HoAth FRI8 R A ) (252,920) (247,054)
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue WA - =
Loss for the year FAEE (6,173) (1,973)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEELH (2,791) (7,252)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREREZH (8,964) (9,225)
The above loss for the year include the following: FERNERBIEAT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHIT
Depreciation and amortisation e R (3,846) (34
Interest income FEKA 1 1
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20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Southern Hill Company Limited and its subsidiary (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill Company

20.

AELRZHE(H)

REERARRENEAR (&)

U EBRNMBERFAREEERA
ANEMB AR EERE S EEAR

Limited and its subsidiary recognised in the consolidated financial RE SRR 2 R
statements:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net liabilities of Southern Hill Company Limited FIIEAR AT 2 HEE (24,990) (16,026)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ AN&EEEF B RIEFR A BHEH#E
in Southern Hill Company Limited k= ) 50% 50%
(12,495) (8,013)
Unrecognised share of loss and AEREGEE R E 2 EEA
other comprehensive income 12,495 8,013
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBERENRFEERRARZ
in Southemn Hill Company Limited RESE - -
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
The unrecognised share of loss and AERFAREEERERBE
other comprehensive income of R E M 2EHA
a joint venture for the year 2,618 4,612
Cumulative unrecognised share of ZEtEEaEhEREE
loss of a joint venture 10,631 8,013
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2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of unlisted investment in associates FELEMEELEZREKA 20,033 18,445
Exchange realignment M 5 B (447) 16
Share of profit and e A K2
other comprehensive income Efh2EEA 33 91
19,619 18,552
Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period HIEARRERRE > REBZHBENEY
are as follows: SFHAERNT
Class of Proportion of
Place of shares ownership interest
Name of entity Form of entity establishment held held by the Group  Principal activity
ST EEBFTE
BRAE {31 R 3L 1t 2 EEid) R L Bl TEXK
2019 2018
InE MBS Limited PRC Registered 49% 49%  Sale of steam, construction and
BRAA] incorporated ~ # capital maintenance of steam pipelines,
BRARKL AR sale of heat-supply equipment
and appliance
HERT  BEREERTEE -
HERMB N 2 REREA
TERFBMAE  Limited PRC Registered 28% N/A  Research and product development
RIBFAMRAR  incoporated AR capital M REMRE
BRATKL AR
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these BRI A MR B M SHRE
consolidated financial statements.
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's ERASESER SR HBER -
associates are set out below. The summarised financial information BT o L‘ATﬁﬁ%ﬁ*ﬂrﬁi\\% e
below represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial SRR 2 S RRIRE BV ERIRES
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
HEEMBEAITRAA HETBEKNIERAA
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets mENEE 6,883 8,015
Non current assets EMBNEE 34,800 30,440
Current liabilities mEBBE (2,451) (594)

159



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

21. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

21. BiECEZEE(2)

NEBRENBBESBEBENAT ¢

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHEEED 2,219 4,304
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade nBREEE(TREENES R
and other payables and provisions) o FRIE R ) - -
Revenue YA 7,320 2,032
(Loss) profit for the year FEUER)EN (18) 196
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEAEMEZEGEE)BA
for the year (922) 4
Total comprehensive (expense) income FE2ME(ZH) KA
for the year (940) 200

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in 5 & M iEEE N HREA A
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

L)U:*ﬂ‘?ﬁi“ MiSER N AR AR ZHE
o IR E S BRI B B ARG MR
R

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHT

Net assets of iy &M EEA S AR A A EMBBERNBRABIFEE 39,232 37,861

Proportion of the Group's ownership interestin  AEEFFEIHEMAGEAZN

InEMIEBRNERA BRAREERZ B 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REBRENIHE T ISAR )

ImEmHEANERAF BRARZIRMEER 19,224 18,552
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TERFTEM BRI AR A A
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I

21. BECEZHE ()

I

TERFTBM BRI AR R A

2019
HK$'000
FET
Current assets mEBEE 1,431
Current liabilities mEAE (21)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings: NEFEERBESBEEENT :
2019
HK$'000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkHEEED 614
Current financial liabilities mEIEEE
(excluding trade and other payables and provisions) — (NEIEMENE 5 K H 708 K B ) -
Revenue WA -
Loss for the year FNERE (175)
Other comprehensive income for the year FAE M2 EHA 23
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRZEXH (152)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in ST & M BIEHE AR A7)
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

A EBRTE#A B BB RERARZ
RSB P B ERG ARE M
R 2K

2019

HK$000

FHET

Net assets of TR FT M B RHR AR A A TEH VMR BRARZFEE 1,410
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in

LERA BT R R B R A A ITERFTRM BRI AR A R A Z 28 0 28%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
&R BT R R B R A E TERA B RRIR AR AR ZRHE R 395
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22. LOAN TO A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A
JOINT VENTURE/AN ASSOCIATE

The loan to a joint venture represented shareholder's loan to
Southern Hill Company Limited. As at 31 December 2018 and
2019, the amount was unsecured and interest-free and formed part
of the net investment in the joint venture. The loan is denominated
in US dollars which is a currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the amount due from a
joint venture represented the loan to BAFREEXER A7) for
construction of a pier. As at 31 December 2018, the amount was
unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable in October 2019. The
loan agreement was renewed in 2019 and as at 31 December
2019 the loan is unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable in
October 2020.

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group performed
impairment assessment on loan to a joint venture, amount due
from a joint venture and an associate and expected that such loans
can be recovered in full and accordingly no allowance for credit
losses is provided.
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22.

SECEZER BKSBELE B
ELERIE

ZEECEERERREAFMEFRA
RAIME T - R2018F £ 2019912 A 31
H ZeRsERARERNS  EKE
AETEFREN D - BEFAET
B REMEEEENEEB I

MR2019%F %2018 12 A318 » EIA
BOEFRBELAEARBEEARATH
B3k - R20185F12A31H » &8 A
IR - S B RA2019F1088E - &
KN 2019F B H - HE2019F 12
A318 @ ZEREEA - 572 KfE2020
FI10AEE -

B A FIROEAEER - B AR
TRfEE -

HE2019F12A318ILEFE » A5 H
HELLEENR  BREEEEREE
ERIEHEITREG - WRAREE
KA ZFEWE - BRBEEBRELR
ﬁé °
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GOODWILL 23. e
HK$'000
FAT
COST AND CARRYING VALUES AR BREE
At 1 January 2018 f£201845 1 H1H 2,809
Exchange realignment HE 5, 2 127)
At 31 December 2018 fE2018%F12A31H 2,682
Exchange realignment M 5, B (60)
At 31 December 2019 2019128318 2,622
INVENTORIES 4. 78
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Raw materials and consumables RAME R FEA @ 394,661 388,544
Work in progress & 22,780 40,938
Finished goods 2URK i 132,943 156,437
550,384 585,919

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

The properties under development for sale are located in the PRC,
and expected to be completed after more than one year from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold
land included in properties under development for sale was
HK$67,778,000 (1 January 2019: HK$69,318,000). Effective
from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands
is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal values of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31
December 2019.
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25. FHEHNRRDPME

FHENBRP MR T EREHRE
BEHRN—F LT °

R2019F 12A31H  HFHENERE
PYEMBENEAE L HAEREES
67,778,000 % L (20194 1 A 18
69,318,000/ 7t) - B2019%F 1 A 1H
B HELHHEREREE ST R
SR F 165 AR AR AW RETTE
MERERAAE - FRBEETA
HETHBAMGETEEEE - ZEE
HE2019F12A31 B HEEEE &
HHAE T HEHRITEERR -
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26.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group generally allows its trade customers a credit period
ranged from 7 to 60 days.

Included in the balance are trade receivables of HK$115,432,000
(2018: HK$103,288,000), and the ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period
is as follows:

26. B 5 R HEMKRIE

AEE—RETESEPZBRENRTE
60K °

FRESREMFRBREREKE S
8% # A& 115,432,000 7 JT ( 2018
103,288,000/87T) + FEWE ZERF AR
SEIRIRBER ZIREB DT T ¢

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Not exceeding 30 days THEEI0OKN 103,929 94,910
31-60 days 31 260X 8,376 7,107
61-90 days 61290k 2,748 477
91—120days 91£ 120K 81 184
Over 120 days B 120K 298 610
Trade receivables =LA E N 115,432 103,288
Prepayments AR 102,014 101,798
Deposits to suppliers N EEE & 18,983 23,401
Value-added tax receivables FEWBEERIE 36,950 20,885
Other receivables H b R 17,148 16,771
Total trade and other receivables FEWE 5 REAMFIBERT 290,527 266,143

As at 1 January 2018, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$95,724,000.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer's credit quality by investigating its historical credit
record and then defines its credit limit. Trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired are considered to be recovered bases
on historical experience.

At 31 December 2019, trade receivables of HK$12,413,000 (2018:
HK$12,546,000) was past due. The Group does not hold any
collateral over the overdue balance.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 44.
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R2018F1A1H  RERFAHNNES
JE UL TR 595,724,00078 7T °

REREMHFZFH - AEEEBHE
BEPZBEEEREMGRBEEEREY
BYBRAETEHEERE - ZBER
B - BEEB BN ERE  BIE 5 R
SIS BRI

MW2019F12 8318 © 5H 12,413,000
IT(2018 1 12,546,000/ 7T ) FEURE 5
BRraly - AEEWERBPAKRIESE
33 an o

BAERHEFHIEEN 44 o
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AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED COMPANIES 27. BW(FERM)RELTREA
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Amounts due from Lee & Man Paper FEWIE XGER B R AR &
Manufacturing Limited and its subsidiaries HTEB A R(RCELK )
("LMP Group") 16,138 12,115
Amount due to LMP Group FEATER SCHE AR (15,307) (757)

note: LMP Group is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee's family member.
The amount represents a trade balance which is unsecured, interest-free bearing
and aged within 90 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group performed
impairment assessment on amount due from related companies
and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparties
is insignificant and accordingly no allowance for credit losses is
provided.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
The deposits carry prevailing market interest rates which range from
0.30% to 3.40% (2018: 0.26% to 3.90%) per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group performed
impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded that the
probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and
accordingly no allowance for credit losses is provided.
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B BXERRMFTAERKREESEE MIZ
# - RERBZHE - B|EH - 2EIN0
AREIH -

HZE2019F 12831 BILFE - A&E
e U BB A R R EE TR E RS - I
RERXPGUHFERHPERIAEKX » Bk
BIEEBKIEHRE -

BITRHBERAS

RITEHRIRSORAEEAFAEZRS
RIRAR3ME AR SEA 2 2
HRITIE A - RS RIRM ST ERA
0.30%Z£3.40%(2018 : 0.26%23.90%)
B

HE2019F12A31BILFE » A& H
HIRTTEHRETREN S - TRARS
HFEYOBMETTEKN - WMAAEER
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. EfIE S REMMKIE
ENESREMRBIERREESEE
PEFEBRASKAZANRIE - EFEE
ZRERHI AT EA45K o

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The credit period obtained
for trade purchases is 7 to 45 days.

ERNESREMARBEBREENES
8k X & 107,160,000 7 JT ( 2018
121,102,000/ 7T ) * ERTE SRR NA R
SEIRIRBER ZIRE DTN T ¢

Included in trade and other payables is trade payables of
HK$107,160,000 (2018: HK$121,102,000). The aged analysis of
trade payables based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Not exceeding 30 days THEE30KR 62,624 69,264
31-60 days 31260K 16,807 26,261
61-90 days 61290k 3,692 6,977
Over 90 days 90RIA I 24,037 18,600
Trade payables B MR 107,160 121,102
Construction costs payables and accruals R IERREREA 137,338 109,268
Value-added tax accruals FEAT BRI IR 16,136 40,741
Other payables H R 103,872 108,265
Other accruals HiEie & A 43,139 46,082
Total trade and other payables FENE 5 M EMRIABAS 407,645 425,458
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ERE DTS
Non-current liabilities JERBEE 40,747 47,659
Current liabilities mBAE 366,898 377,799
407,645 425,458
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As at 31 December 2019, the balance of other payables included
a non-current deferred income, amounting to HK$29,080,000
(2018: HK$35,728,000), received from the PRC government for
an innovative technology project. The amounts will be utilise to the
relevant research and development expenses.

As at 31 December 2019, the balance of other payable included the
consideration of RMB10,500,000 (equivalent to HK$11,667,000)
(2018: RMB10,500,000 (equivalent to HK$11,931,000) )on
acquisition of the remaining 30% equity interest in a subsidiary and
the amount was repayable after one year after the reporting period.

Manufacture and sale of chemical products with SRt 1L TE

product delivery service B 7 E o XA AR
Sale of properties M HE
Analysed for reporting purposes as: TEMREDITRE -
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE
Current liabilities mEEE

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$88,124,000.

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current and non-
current based on the Group's earliest obligation to transfer goods or
services to the customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how
much relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
periods.
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201912 A318 » WE T R E B
4T 2 BIFTEIRIA B © 88 429,080,000
770 (2018 & 35,728,000/ 70) Z IEmH
BLERAEBSEEMENRT - 5F
SIEBRREEMNEER -

MR2019F 128318 » EtERNRE
SAEBPA—RWE R A 2 IEERE
BT B = RS B B 8 B 2 R 3000 PR AE
@R B A AR 10,500,000 7T (4%
711,667,000 ) (2018 : AR
10,500,000 7t ( 49 % 7 11,931,000 /&
TL)) ¢ RRCRIERE HE —FREE -

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR
55,157 50,690
9,877 =
65,034 50,690
9,877 =
55,157 50,690
65,034 50,690

W

MR2018F1A1H » 2481
88,124,000/ 7T °

3

BHEE HEMTeAEAKELEREL
LEMANEE - ARBEARBERFRE
FEBEBmIMBNER D RRBE
EMIERBAIE °

TRINFRAFRE 2 WAERS - 5Z
LEBENABRENAEZ VBBENRE
B BRIEE
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

30. SHARE)

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
Manufacture and sale of chemical products FLEMHE TEm
with product delivery service B 7 2 e XA AR TS 46,857 79,582

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Manufacture and sale of chemical products with product
delivery service

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers for
incompleted performance obligations on sale of chemical products
and are recognised as revenue when the Group performs its
obligations under the contracts. Performance obligation is expected
to be satisfied within one year from the inception of contracts.

Sale of properties

The Group receives the consideration in advance from sale of
properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract
liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of the
completed property.

HERRANEBECBBENTEZ —
RRASERIESEAT

HENHELIERMFTERIVRE

BHEBERREFPRHEE(LIERMA
BITHRAOZHENERIE - ERAK
BETANEBHERSKA - BHE
BRI 2 BE—FABITEORT -

YIREE
AEEAEFP BB R HERKIOR -

HERREELEZANABEER TR
BORTYEZIEHIRERTRER

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. AR
2019
HK$'000
FET
Lease liabilities payable: BAEESE
Within one year —FA 1,850

Lease obligations are denominated in RMB.
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Unsecured bank loans

Carrying amount of bank borrowings based on
scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements:
Within one year
More than one year, but not exceeding
two years
More than two years but not more than
five years

Less: Amounts due within one year shown
under current liabilities

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities

The exposure of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's variable-rate borrowings
carry interests at 0.7% to 2.2% over Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") (2018: 1% to 2.2% over HIBOR).

EHIPRITRER

RIEKEAIBERE R
RITERHRREE ¢

—FR
B —FETBHERF

HBEMFEIEETSF

B —FARIHR SRR
mBEE TR

RIEREBIE TIIR

T

CIt Cct
ofF OF
S s
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2019
HK$’000
Tz

1,498,452

587,538
640,914
270,000
1,498,452

(587,538)

910,914

2019
HK$'000
TR

559,064
939,388

1,498,452

2018
HK$'000
TAT

1,874,212

926,519
857,641
90,052
1,874,212

(926,519)

947,693

AEBZEEMRERREOBIHE 0

2018
HK$'000
TAT

853,178
1,021,034

1,874,212

R2019F 128318 » REBEHTZEE
IR ABRITRZEFRE L1F0.7%ZE2.2%
T 2(2018 : BFRITRAIERE EF1%
Z2.200) °
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32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32. BITERE)

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's REEERZERFFRGEQOT :
borrowings are as follows:

2019 2018
Effective interest rates: BERFER
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMERK 4.35% to 4.71% to
4.75% 4.82%
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 0.7% to 0.19% to
2.2% 2.2%
over HIBOR over HIBOR
BEET BBIRIT
BXFE LT REFE LT
The following amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in AT 2BENRTERAREEEERSY
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group Mee EEAINIEIEEHE -
entities.
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK dollars BT 939,388 1,021,034
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EERDHUE kit
HK$'000
TAEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: SREE0. 10T EBR :
Authorised: vl
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and R2018F1A1R ~ 20185 12A318 K
31 December 2019 2019 12A31H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BORER
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and R2018F1A1H  2018F12A31A Kk
31 December 2019 2019 12A31H 825,000,000 82,500
There was no movement in the Company's share capital for both AT R AR B E AN R E) o
years.
34. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT OPERATION 34. SEEBRE
The joint operation was constituted from 50% shareholding of Hong RELEXRBHEBR ﬁ?ﬁﬁSO%ﬁﬂgiﬂ
Kong Baptist University Investment Limited operating a research B RAPBUI#E SRAMEE—EARR
center located in Changshu, Jiangsu, the PRC. R e
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the aggregate amounts of assets 20195 %2018 12 4310 - KEE
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial statements BB EXB T RAERE M BREK
relating to the Group's interests in this joint operation are as follows: BWRNEERERBESBNT
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Property L7/ES 14,144 15,430
Prepaid lease payments AN HEERIE - 2,310
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,206 =
16,350 17,740
Expenses EH 1,318 1,066
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35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 July 2017 for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons
(the "Participants”). The Scheme has a term of 10 years from the
date which the Board of Directors resolved to offer the options to
the Participants, i.e. 13 June 2017, and therefore it expires on 12
June 2026. On 14 July 2017, 82,500,000 share options with an
aggregate market value of HK$154,200,000 were granted and the
provision of the Scheme shall remain in full force and the holder
of all options granted under the Scheme prior to such termination
shall be entitled to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme until expiry of the said options.

The purpose of the Scheme is to reward the Participants who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group and to encourage the
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole. The Scheme expressly provides that the Board of
Directors may, with respect to each grant of options, determine the
subscription price, the minimum period (if any) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised, performance targets (if
any) and other conditions that apply to the options.

The options granted on 14 July 2017 will vest on 1 April 2022.
They will be exercisable by Mr. Lee during the period from 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2027 if the Group achieves the following
performance targets:

@) all the 82,500,000 options will be exercisable from 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2027 (both dates inclusive) if the net profit
for the Group’s financial year ending 31 December 2021
equals or exceeds 150% of the net profit for the Group's
financial year ended 31 December 2016 of HK$216,195,000;
or
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EREERAGERAL([2HEE |)RMH
RE) - ZFTEBEESRB R EEIR
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AR 2026F6 A 128 fEm ° 72017
F£7H14H - 82,500,00088 f& #E AT E
154,200,000/8 7T B B 1+ mazaT 2
PGB E DT ER - MR KL LIEATR
B8 B HOMEERERE ABE
RIEET G TR ARITEERE - &
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ZITE B ERE LR A AANEEED
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RERR ZEEFZ - BORREAERRD
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FLATTHE
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HRFEE2FANBSERNBRARN
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AIFR2022F 41 HE202743 A
3H(EREMABIEERN ) ERHT
£ 8%



(i) if the net profit for the Group’s financial year ending 31
December 2021 cannot be achieved as per (i) above, the
82,500,000 options will be exercisable from 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2027 (both dates inclusive) if the net profit for the
Group's financial year ending 31 December 2022 equals or
exceeds 160% of the net profit for the Group's financial year
ended 31 December 2016 of HK$216,195,000.

The exercise price of the options granted to Mr. Lee is HK$3.72,
which was determined at the Board meeting on 13 June 2017 by
reference to the highest of (i) HK$0.10, being the par value of a
share in the Company, (i) HK$3.72, being the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant, and (iii) the average closing price of
the shares in the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant.

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share
options during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Director Date of grant Exercise price
5= KL B 1B
HK$
BT
Mr. Lee ZFiE4 14.7.2017 3.72

Exercisable at the end of

the year
RERA FTE

173

Annual Report 2019 F 3

() HMAEEEHZE2021F12A3181E
BIFE 2 F F B EEE E ()T
MES - B RNEEHE2022F
12831 B IEFBFE 2 FFEER
BB AEBEEZE2016F 12 A3
B 1B B A 2 %A 216,195,000
7T 160% -+ A182,500,00017 f#
BEAERE AT B 202344 A1 HE 2027
FIA3NH(BEEMABIEERN)E
1118 -

ERHERTFEREZEBBREZITEER
372870 DN2017FE6 B 13ENES
g% F2ETN=42BRUUSS
AYE)EETE : () 0.10787 » B @E(E -
(IAETFEEREBER 2 LilES
eeEEAEMIER 2 EERER
BB Z B TB3.7238 7T » R>iINNE
B ETEERAER M AR Ll
EEeeRERAMAERS AEBSA
B FHRERMY 2 BRHFHYT
{g °

HE2019F K2018F 12831 B IEFEE
AN ANREERESEE 2T ¢

Number of
share options
BAES A
Outstanding at
1.1.2018,
31.12.2018, and
31.12.2019

Exercisable period
171 H7

1.4.2022-31.3.2027 82,500
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35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The estimated fair value of the share options granted under the
Scheme on 14 July 2017 was approximately HK$154,200,000,
calculated using the Binomial Model (the “Model”). The inputs into
the Model at the date of grant were as follows:

35. MERxiEstEI(2)

R2017F 7R 14BN BEREZHE
N FABE A 154,200,000/8 7T * JhE% A
ZIEARAE ([ ) EE - BRI A
RN ¢

Share options
with an exercisable

period from

fBRRHE

ZIT{EHRR

1.4.2022 to

31.3.2027

Share price at date of grant PR B HARE HK$4.44
Exercise price 1T1E(E HK$3.72
Expected volatility TRERRIE (T 4F) 44.29% per annum
Expected life of share options FEIRHETE AR SF HR 9.7 years
Expected dividend yield TRHARR B 3.24%
Risk-free rate i A =R 1.52%
Fair value of share option B N THE HK$1.87

Fair values of the share options were with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company's share price. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for the
effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of 5-year
exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as
of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of
the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions.

The Group recognises the total expense of HK$32,684,000 for

the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$32,684,000) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.
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36. OPERATING LEASES 36. EEHW
2018
HK$'000
FHET
Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases ~ FRBERPH A EMELLHL 2
in respect of office premises during the year HEEERRK 6,022

At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

MR2018F 12 A31H » KEBFZE T
BEER AR RREAEN KED T -

2018
HK$'000
TAET

Within one year —&R
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFREF

Included in the commitments above, HK$3,707,000 was related
to commitment for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases with LMP Group (note 40).

The commitments for operating lease payments represent rentals
payable by the Group for office properties. Leases are negotiated
for an average term of three years. Rentals are based on the terms
specified in the lease agreements.
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317.

38.

39.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. BXEIE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment BB MERE K& HE 239,036 337,526
Acquisition of prepaid lease payment BERMNEERE - 22,152
Acquisition of right-of-use assets BECAEEE 21,660 -
260,696 359,678

OTHER COMMITMENT 38. Hfthakis

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for granting shareholder’s loan of HK$27,045,000 (2018:
HK$27,045,000) to Southern Hill Company Limited to cover the
initial costs and expenses of undertaking the pier construction in
Jiangxi, the PRC.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates the Mandatory Provided Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly
the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$14,431,000 (2018:

HK$15,311,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.
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Apart from the balances with related parties as set out in notes 22
and 27, the Group had significant transactions with related parties
during the year as follows:

Name of related party Relationship

RERLEH

LMP Group
EIER

BARBER
BRAF

I 2 TS SEE )
BRAA

B#

A Group beneficially
owned and controlled
by Mr. Lee's family
members

RS ERKKE
Enra Rk
k| /N

A joint venture
ABDE

An associate
BRI

Nature of transactions

REME

Electricity and steam fee paid
ENBERERE

Rental expense paid
EfNHEER

Sale of chemical products
HELTER

Electricity and steam fee received
EWEEREARE

Rental income received
Bl S IA

Management fee paid
ENERE
Interest received

REE)s)

Steam fee received
BERE
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2019
HK$'000
FET
71,635
1,857
91,566

70,984

2,166

4,132

552

5,839

BrBsE22 27 Frol a2 B i@ A - 455k
Hh s REEERBALTRFRATETZ
BEARGIAT :

2018
HK$'000
THET
74,997
1,939
108,796

72,247

2,524

4,282

488

1,812



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥2EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2r‘-|

VALY

BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12A31HIEFE

40.

41.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Except for the related party transactions and balances described
above, the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement with
LMP Group. Details of the joint venture and the commitment to the
joint venture are set out in notes 20, 22 and 38 respectively.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

40. MEXHRHEER(E)

B EXFrli R A X5 MAERIN 0 K
E.Eﬁ@xﬂ:iﬁﬁi BRERHE A
BhERHEEDE 2 HihEARFREF
B RIS 5E20 ~ 22%38 °

BERHMFBEEERERFENZ M
oy (N

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits RES TaA 56,921 58,991
Post-employment benefits RUREA 112 236
57,033 59,227

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 41. EBFRELXH

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of HK$210,740,000 (2018:
HK$265,450,000) was settled through transfer of deposits paid in
the prior years.

In November 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 30% equity
interest in a subsidiary from its non-controlling shareholder at a
consideration of RMB10,500,000 (equivalent to HK$12,146,000)
which is to be settled after one year after the ending of the reporting
period.
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HEARERE

Jiangsu L&M (note 1)
IEESUL TBR BRI (Mt 1)

Jiangxi L&M (note 1)
TREXCTAERARAET)

Lee & Man (International)
Investment Limited

EX (B ) REBR A

Lee & Man Chemical
Investment Limited

BEX(IREARAA

Changshu Yunhong Realty Limited
RFAEBEXARRDA

Guangzhou Lee & Man Technology

Company Limited
BMEXRR AR AR

Place of
incorporation

R AvE:E

PRC
il

PRC
i

Hong Kong
0

British Virgin
Islands

ERRAES

PRC
G

PRC
i

Nominal value of issued

and fully paid share
capital/paid-in capital
ERTRHAZRAE
EE/ BRRA

Paid-in capital
- US$78,750,000
EHRA
—78,750,000% T

Paid-in capital
- US$285,190,000
EHRA
—285,190,000% 7T

Ordinary shares
- HK$100

EBmR
—100/87T

Share
- US$1
)

E

Paid-in capital
- RMB120,000,000
B

— AR#120,000,0007T

Paid-in capital
- RMB11,000,000
BARAK

— AE#11,000,0007T
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R2019F K2018F 12 A31BARA 2

FTEMBRBFIBFHT :
Attributable
equity interest Principal activities*
FribREss FTEER
2019 2018
100% 100%  Manufacture and sale
of industrial chemical
products
KERHET£IER
100% 100%  Manufacture and sale
of industrial chemical
products
HENMEETELCIER
100% 100%  Investment holding
AR
100% 100%  Investment holding
AR
100% 100%  Property development
WEER
100% 100%  Research and product

development
U B 28 A 3
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Nominal value of issued

- FLAFEEMBLT(E)

Place of and fully paid share Attributable
Name of subsidiary incorporation  capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
BRTRAZKRAE
MEAREHE MR EE/BHRE Frib s FTEER
2019 2018
Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials Science PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale
Company Limited H - RMB120,325,000 of industrial chemical
WS RBRAR (2018: RMB74,022,000) products
BRI EERBEEIXIER
— AKR#120,325,0007T
(2018
AR#74,022,0007T)
Ruichang Liwen Xingchang PRC Paid-in capital N/A 100%  Manufacture and sale
Environmental Protection Co. Ltd A E - RMB35,000,000 of industrial chemical
mEBXEERRERAR BHBRA products
(“Xingchang") (note 2) — AR #35,000,0007T FEREEIXIER
* The principal place of operation of each company is the same as its place of * BRIEZEFHHA  BRSKDRNEEZL XM
incorporation unless otherwise stated. Bhed B A B AR o
notes: it -
1. These companies are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment 1. ZEREHINEEECE M -
enterprise.

2. The company was deregistered on 12 March 2019.

Only Lee & Man Chemical Investment Limited is directly held by the
Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results and/or net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BEEMBEE
The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group AREBHETEARER  LAERAEEE
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the TEERERENSESEER  FAKE6
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and BLEEEBRAEHFRRERAE
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged e AEENEREEE EFERET
from prior year. B o
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which AEENEAGEEREFABR(ERERE
includes the bank borrowings disclosed in note 32, net of bank M EE32 AT BB AR 1T B KA R ER1T 45
balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the BNIRE) RARBIERTEA ARG ER
Company, comprising issued share capital and various reserves. (BEEBITRARZIARE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RNAREZTFTHBTENEE - (EAZ
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of BRNN—HD  EFTEERERAKAN
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on EREFREANEBRRE - BIEBEESHNE
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall & ASEBEBIRMTKRE « BITHR
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues AN EEITHE A B LB pE & K284 -
as well as issue of new debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 44. £MTH
43a. Categories of financial instruments 43a. @@ T A2 %5
2019 2018
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Financial assets ERHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBHR A 2 S RVEE 605,950 838,475
Debt instruments at FVTOCI RATEGFAREMEERZZ
BETA 156,105 113,020
Financial liabilities TRIEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENAZ CREE 2,022,420 2,262,253
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

44b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bills receivable, loan to a joint venture,
amounts due from (to) a joint venture, an associate, related
companies, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
bills payable and bank borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including HK dollars and US dollars
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. Material transactions and balances that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
entities give rise to foreign currency exposure as follows:

(i) US dollars — in terms of loan to a joint venture and
bank balances and cash.

(i) HK dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings.

Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have
always been the concern of the Group. Management
will monitor the foreign currency exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when the need
arises.
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44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities are as follows:

Assets EE
HK dollars BT
US dollars ETT
Liabilities =L
HK dollars BT
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44b. IS EMREEEERKE (&)

B mE (&)
() E¥RRE)

FTENNE T HEERE MR

]

REREHR - AR EER AR
BERDEEBAIIZ ERRLR
MEeMEENEBARG  HIR
EEDT

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT THET
24,325 216,087
103,708 111,155

939,388 1,021,034
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

44. &MTR(Z)

e R ()

() E¥RRE)

44b. GRS EEEERBE (&)

Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e. RMB and HK dollars)
against the above foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
strengthening of the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the above foreign currencies would
give rise to the following impact to post-tax profit for the

FTENNE T HEERE MR
(& (&)

T RS A S B A FE R
SEERMEER(AARK
RAT) B Eal oM Es E A
N T B&50% 2 BURKIE © 500H) B
RRE MR E IR E G /N [
EHEEA B L o EHARRF
50 Ry INEPE ReE - FREAM
PE 5 = RS UMD TR 1E
A - ZEESEER 2
BEEEE iR NS R oR B
B BoFERRESETN G

year and vice versa.

TE RZIPR

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHIT
Financial assets and liabilities: BERUHEEERALE

Increase (decrease) on post-tax FERTIE

profit for the year w A OR D)

— HK dollars —BTT 45,753 40,247

— US dollars —=SE (5,185) (5,558)
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44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group's cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate
to its variable rate borrowings (see note 32 for details
of these borrowings). It is the Group's policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate so as to minimise the cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group's bank balances also
have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate bank borrowings (see note 32 for
detail of these borrowings). The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising
from the Group's HK dollars denominated borrowings.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
For variable rate bank borrowings, to the extent that
they are not hedged by effective instruments, and
bank balances, the analysis is prepared assuming the
stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the
financial year and held constant throughout both years
in the case of instruments that have floating rates. 10
(2018: 10) basis point and 50 (2018: 50) basis point
increase or decrease are used by the management for
the assessment of the possible change in interest rates of
variable rate bank balances and variable rate borrowings,
respectively.

If interest rates had been 10 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would increase or decrease by HK$223,000 (2018:
HK$372,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank
balances.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would decrease or increase by HK$4,697,000 (2018:
HK$5,105,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its bank borrowings.
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44b. S RIESEEEERBE(E)

44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and
bills receivable

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances
and bills receivables based on provision matrix. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced. Credit risk on bills receivable is
limited because the counterparties are mainly from the banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group assessed the ECL for trade receivables and bills
receivable were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 15% (2018:
17%) and 33% (2018: 48%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers, respectively.

Other receivables, loan to a joint venture and amounts due
from a joint venture/an associate/related companies

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables,
loan to a joint venture and amounts due from a joint venture/
an associate/related companies individually based on internal
credit rating and ageing of these debtors which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, have no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. ECL is estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
debtors and is adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. For the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group assessed the 12m
ECL for other receivables, loan to a joint venture and amounts
due from a joint venture/an associate/related companies were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 44. EMIR(E)

44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 44b. S REAKREEBERBK(E)

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R RAEE(E)
Bank balances and cash RITAER R B %

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the

RRERRITHRBERER

counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings BREENEATRBRENRIT &
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed RITEBZEERRER - X&EEH
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information FHERITASRN T —EARREE
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the ERR2E EINEB(E AT R 2
respective credit rating grades published by external credit MRS AT AR S R B AT =

rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL

@E%’Uﬁéﬂé o RIBFHEIER - IR

on bank balances is considered to be insignificant. Rz T B ATRREEBER
MEITEK

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises AEEARBEERERF RS RTE

the following categories: BEATEEER -

Category Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
<Yl it B 5 BUWRR HtteMEE
Performing  The counterparty has a low and have no past  Lifetime ECL— not 12m ECL
due amounts credit-impaired
FE#) R GEFHARIK R B EAFIE REEHREEEE- 12 BHREEEE
FEEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
Al &E EE R B VIR HER LA SR A IR 15 0 REEHEERR - KRIEHEEEE-
FEEERE JEEERIE
In default There is evidence indicating that the assetis  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
EH) BRBERLZEELREERE HREEBEERR - KRFEHEEEE-
FEEERE FEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amounts are written off Amounts are written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
Mg BE Tf?au“jfﬁ‘%/\ﬁﬁﬂ!ﬂéﬁﬁﬁlliﬁﬂ WERE MRS

7R 5K (B3 8 B R A 4B I B 5K
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44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 44b. S REAKREEBERBK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R R BETE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's THRANAEBHNFEXBHAEE
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: ERFHEN SR EENEERE
Internal 12-month Gross
Notes  credit rating or lifetime ECL carrying amount
REBEE R2EARK S
B = Ear EHEEEER BEREE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Bills receivable at FVTOCI N/A Performing  Lifetime ECL 156,105 113,020
— not credit-Impaired
BRAFEFAHMEE TER BHY wEEBEEER
&=d T4 —IEEERE

Financial assets
at amortised costs

BBERA 2 THEE
Trade receivables 26 Performing  Lifetime ECL 115,432 103,288
— not credit-impaired
FEWE 53K ) REFHREERBR
—IHEERIE
Other receivables 26 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 17,148 16,771
HAtb FEU R R 12{AAFREMEEREE
Loan to a joint venture 22 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 97,755 97,755
BELEZER B# 12EAFREERERE
Amount due from a joint venture 22 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 14,120 14,946
EY A & BEFIR ) 12ERFRHREERRE
Amount due from an associate 22 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 1,199 526
FE Wt 2 (D SR FRIR ) 1218 AEEEE &R
Amounts due 22 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 16,138 12,115
from related companies
& 45 R 38 ) B FRIE B4 1218 A EE B
Bank balances 28 Performing ~ 12-month ECL 246,404 593,074
IRITHEER B4 1218 A REEEER
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44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 44b. YRR EEBEREE (F)

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed defaulted rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort the grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the Group's liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows. The Group also has available unutilised banking facilities
(note 32) of approximately HK$4,518,479,000 (2018:
HK$4,041,153,000) to meet its short-term working capital
requirements. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent the interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows.
To the extent that interest flows are at floating rate, the
discounting rate and the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rates at the end of the reporting period.
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44b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

44c.

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

Trade and other payables

Bills payable

Amount due to a related company
Lease liabilties

Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

As at 31 December 2018

Trade and other payables

Bills payable

Amount due to a related company
Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

#2019512/318
ERE S REME
13"’}2
ﬁi

12018512317
ERESREMIUE

EREE

NBEARE

BB
5

&5t

st
~
!

/%

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
1Sk
NEFHEY
%

%

475
481
314

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
ERAE
mETEH
%

%

475
314

0-30 days

0-30%
HKS'000
TER

365,231

15307
159

93,000

473,697

0-30 days

0-30K%
HK$000
TR

290,976
57,455
757
45628

394816

31-60 days

31-60%
HK$'000
TER

24,666

158
54,412

19,236

31-60 days
31-60%

HK$'000
ThL

26922

3435
55,005

85,362

Fair value of financial instruments that are recorded at

amortized cost

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period,
except for the derivative financial instrument measured at
fair value through profit or loss, of which the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be
measured reliably because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant.
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44b. ISR EEEEREE (&)

mEBELEE(E)
Total
Over  undiscounted Carrying
61-90days  91-365 days Tyear  cash flows amount
28 R
61-90% 91-365% 15 ReREMR A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TRn TR TRn TR

- - 11,667 376,898 376,898

26,129 80,968 - 131,763 131,763

- - - 15,307 15,307

158 1,423 - 1,898 1,850

- 424,513 92,254 571,179 559,064

- 23,804 906,731 1,023,535 939,388

26,287 530,708 1,010,652 2,120,580 2,024,270
Total

Over  undiscounted Carrying

61-90days  91-365 days 1 year cash flows amount
il AR

61-90% 91-365% £ ReRSE HEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEnL TR TR TR Tin

= = 11931 302907 302,907
= = = 84377 84377
= = = 757 757
= 433,96 411,565 894,590 853,178
103320 312,183 585,430 1055938 1,021,034
103,320 746,145 1008926 2338569 2262253
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45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

45. HAMREBFREEARZHIE

TRHFAAEEREBMETHNEEER
B ERASIIRSED BEEY
ELfNBBERASREIARAKASRE
REASEGEARERERT I ARE
BRPRERENAE -

activities.
Bank Accrued Lease Dividend
borrowings interest liabilities payables Total
BITEE BHREFE HEER ERRE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR THET TET TET
At 1 January 2018 720181 A1H 2,170,783 - - - 2170783
Financing cash flows RERER (253,171) (93,823) - (354750)  (701,744)
Dividends recognised as distribution B %722 I%.5 2k = - - 354,750 354,750
Finance costs recognised ERAZHBER = 93,530 = = 93,530
Finance costs capitalised in ERIREML 2B
construction in progress EH = 293 = = 293
Exchange realignment RS (43,400) - - - (43,400)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A431H 1,874,212 - - - 1,874,212
Adjustment (Note 2) BR(H22) - - 6,318 - 6,318
At 1 January 2019 20191 A18 1,874,212 - 6,318 - 1,880,530
Financing cash flows RERER (361,104) (77,533) (3417)  (272,250)  (714,304)
Dividends recognised as distribution B %72 I%.5 2k - - - 272,250 272,250
Finance costs recognised EHRAZHBER - 71,533 222 - 71,755
Termination of lease arrangement 4 | &%k - - (1,230) - (1,230)
Exchange realignment B 5 3% (14,656) - (43) - (14,699)
At 31 December 2019 #2019F12831H 1,498,452 - 1,850 - 1,500,302
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

A summarised information statement of financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 is as

Annual Report 2019 F 3

46. ELAFMEIRAR

ARATA2019F12831H K2018412

A3V B 2R R AT

follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
ASSETS BE
Investments in a subsidiary B AR E 53,799 55,022
Prepayments SEANE 352 370
Bank balances IR1THE SR 1,124 1,662
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E ] 985,261 382,560
1,040,536 439614
LIABILITIES =
Other payables H A eI 9,037 9,883
Amount due to a subsidiary FEASTBY BB A BIRIE 8,214 28
17,251 9911
1,023,285 429,703
Capital and reserves ERR
Share capital [N 82,500 82,500
Reserves B 940,785 347,203
1,023,285 429,703
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

46. FLFMBRRAER(Z)

Movement of the reserves mEEH
Share
Share Contributed Translation options  Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RiVEE BHE% EIRE BRERE | RHEA CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET FET TR TET
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H 20,307 (102,808) 5,562 15313 781,483 719,857
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (51,886) (51,886)
Exchange differences RAaEmEE L
arising from translation [ERZR - - 1,298 - = 1,298
Total comprehensive FREELH
expense for the year a5 - - 1,298 - (51,886) (50,588)
Dividends ) = - - - (354750)  (354,750)
Recognition of equity-settled HEZMBHEE 2
share based payments (DN - - - 32,684 = 32,684
At31 December 2018 12018124318 20307 (102,808) 6,860 47997 374847 347,203
Profit for the year B - - - - 832,561 832,561
Exchange differences RAEmESEZ
arising from translation B ER - - 587 - - 587
Total comprehensive FREEWE
income for the year B3 - - 587 - 832,561 833,148
Dividends ) - - - - (272250)  (272,250)
Recognition of equity-settled HERMBRHEE 2
share based payments (N - - - 32,684 - 32,684
At31 December2019 20194128318 20307  (102,808) 7,047 80,681 935158 940,785

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries
acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in
December 2001 and the nominal value of the Company's shares
issued for the acquisition.
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Financial Summary
BB

Annual Report 2019 F i

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T T FAT FET

RESULTS E S
Revenue L ON

Profit before taxation BRAATE A
Income tax expenses FriS Bz i
Profit for the year F N A

1,705,879 1,813,851 2,973,747 3,876,777 3,476,571

355,944 339,950 930,961 1,156,933 850,915
(86,266)  (123,755)  (227,940) (284,558)  (150,144)

269,678 216,195 703,021 872,375 700,771

At 31 December

R+=—A=+-—8H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT FHIT AT FAT FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Total assets BEMRR
Total liabilities BERE

Equity attributable to owners &R B1#H A

of the Company FE(aHE s
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A

4,622,040 4752065 5855475 6054580 6,094,948
(2,275,762) (2,410,040) (2,761,041) (2,575915) (2,244,425)

2,346,278 2,342,025 3,094,434 3,478,665 3,850,523

2,346,278 2,342,025 3,082,373 3,478,665 3,850,523
= = 12,061 = -

2,346,278 2,342,025 3,094,434 3,478,665 3,850,523
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Schedule of Property
MEEF

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE FHEHRRPME
Existing Stage of
Location Area Land use Completion Anticipated completion
b B [ BRLHAE  THRER FAHER A
No.156 Jiangnan Avenue, 16,606M2 Commercial/ Superstructure in -~ December 2021
No. 9 Jiangang Road, Residential progress
Changshu Economic
Development Zone,
Jiangsu, PRC
BT #FE 5 AR 16606F 5Kk  mEE/EE FETRBEIH —ZE-_—F+=A
FEE TR AE

1565% © £/BHI5%
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